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Operating and Financial Review 

Organisation Profile 

Shaped by the past : creating the future 

Durham University is distinctive – a collegiate 
university with long traditions and modern values. 
It seeks the highest distinction in research and 
scholarship and is committed to excellence in all 
aspects of education and transmission of 
knowledge. Durham’s research and scholarship 
affects every continent and its community of 
international scholars – staff and students – 
reflects the values and ambitions of many 
cultures around the world. It promotes individual 
participation in a scholarly community providing a 
rounded education in which students gain both 
the academic and the personal skills required to 
succeed in life. 

Durham is not a traditional campus university, but 
has evolved over time with departments and 
colleges embedded within its local communities 
in Durham and Stockton. At the heart of the 
University is the magnificent medieval UNESCO 
World Heritage Site which is shared with Durham 
Cathedral. 

The University has approximately 15,000 
students, and over 3,000 staff. As the University 
has grown, its departments and colleges have 
remained on a human scale – at a size in which 
staff and students can work together and support 
each other. This offers exceptional opportunities 
and attracts many of the most able students and 
staff from around the world. 

The University’s 16 colleges are small enough to 
foster a strong sense of belonging to an 
educational community, whilst still allowing 
students to enjoy all the academic facilities and 
other benefits of a large University. Every student 
at the University belongs to a college, of which 
they remain a member throughout their time at 
Durham and thereafter. The colleges are not 
teaching bodies, but are small communities of 
undergraduate and postgraduate students and 
staff from all disciplines who eat, study and relax 
together, providing support and opportunities to 
excel and develop such qualities as leadership, 
open-mindedness, curiosity and social 
responsibility. Two colleges, St Chad's and St 
John's, are established as independent 
foundations. 

College Year of 
foundation 

Collingwood 1972 
George Stephenson 2001 
Grey 1959 
Hatfield 1846 
John Snow 2001 
Josephine Butler 2006 
St Aidan's 1947 
St Chad's 1904 
St Cuthbert's Society 1888 
St Hild and St Bede 1839 
St John's 1909 
St. Mary's 1899 
Trevelyan 1966 
University 1832 
Ustinov 1965 
Van Mildert 1965 

The University’s academic teaching and research 
programmes are delivered through departments 
organised into three faculties as described below: 

Arts and Humanities 
Classics and Ancient  History 
English Studies 
History 
Modern Languages and Cultures 
Music 
Philosophy 
Theology and Religion 

Science
Biological and Biomedical Sciences 
Chemistry 
Earth Sciences  
Engineering and Computing Sciences 
Mathematical Sciences 
Physics 
Psychology 

Social Sciences and Health 
Anthropology  
Applied Social Sciences 
Archaeology 
Centre for Evaluation and Monitoring  
Economics and Finance 
Durham Business School1
Education 
Foundation Centre 
Geography 
Government and International  Affairs 
Law 
Medicine and Health 

1 Durham Business School enjoys a degree of financial and 
operating autonomy. It is part of the Faculty of Social 
Sciences and Health for academic purposes.
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Organisation Profile – continued 

The University has also established eight 
Research Institutes to bring together researchers 
from different disciplines to tackle questions of 
global significance: 

Research Institutes 
Institute for Medieval and Renaissance Studies 
Biophysical Sciences Institute 
Durham Energy Institute 
Institute for Computational Cosmology 
Institute for Particle Physics Phenomenology 
Institute of Advanced Study 
Institute of Hazard Risk & Resilience 
Wolfson Research institute 

Further details are given on the web page 
www.dur.ac.uk/research/institutes.

In addition to its academic faculties, research 
institutes and colleges, the University’s activities 
are underpinned by support services organised 
within three divisions: 

Registrar’s Division 

Academic Office 
Business Assurance  
Business and Innovation Services 
Communications and Marketing 
Development and Alumni Relations 
Governance Support 
Health and Safety 
Human Resources  
Information Technology
International Office 
Library 
Research Office
Strategic Planning
Technology Transfer 

Executive Division 

Vice-Chancellor’s office 
Pro Vice-Chancellors 

Treasurer’s Division
Estates & Buildings 
Finance 
Procurement
Event Durham

More information about the University and its 
many activities is available in the brochure 
“Creating the Future” available at 
www.dur.ac.uk/university.brochure

Governance  

The University is an autonomous institution 
governed in accordance with best practice. 
Council is the governing and executive body of 
the University and, subject to the powers of 
Senate, has ultimate responsibility for all the 
affairs of the University. Senate is the University's 
governing body in all academic matters. The 
Executive Committee is the senior executive 
body, is a joint sub-committee of Council and 
Senate and is chaired by the Vice-Chancellor and 
Warden. 

Public Status 

The University is a charity, founded in 1832 by 
Act of Parliament and granted a Royal Charter in 
1837. The University is exempt from registration 
as a charity under Schedule 2 item (b) of the 
Charities Act 1993. From 1 June 2010 the Higher 
Education Funding Council for England (“the 
Funding Council”) became the regulator for all 
higher education charities. 

The University is an autonomous body that 
receives a significant proportion of its funding 
from government, mainly through the Funding 
Council. A Financial Memorandum with the 
Funding Council establishes the University’s 
accountability for the public funding it receives 
from that body.  

The University is a charity and as such must 
operate for the public benefit. This is reported on 
in the next section of this review. 

Members of the University Council are the charity 
trustees and details of Council membership 
during the years 2009/10, and 2010/11 (where 
different) are given below. No trustees received 
any payment for their trustee duties. Details of 
the total expenses paid in relation to trustee 
duties and Related Party transactions are 
reported in notes 8 and 33 to the financial 
statements respectively. 
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Organisation Profile – continued 

Members of University Council 
Ex-officio members
The Chancellor, Dr Bill Bryson  
The Vice-Chancellor and Warden, Professor  
C F Higgins
The Dean of Durham, The Very Reverend     
M Sadgrove
The President of Durham Students’ Union, 
Miss N Crisp (2009/10); Mr S Roseveare 
(2010/11)
Appointed lay members
Mr M Bird  
Mr A Buchanan (2010/11) 
Mr R L Court  
Professor D Croisdale-Appleby (2009/10) 
Mr J Cuthbert (Vice-Chairman)  
Mr J Docherty  
Mrs A Galbraith (Chairman)  
Mr S Gardner
Mrs J Gentle (2009/10)  
Mr R Gillespie  
Mrs S Johnson (2010/11) 
Mr A Mitchell  
Mr H Morgan Williams  
Mr M J Stephenson
Appointed members of University staff
Ms K Blundell  
Professor J P Davidson  
Professor H J Harris  
Professor A J Long  
Ms T McKinven  
Professor N D B Saul  
Professor B K Tanner

Public Benefit

Durham University’s objects were established in 
its initial charter and related Acts of Parliament 
and are very widely drawn, being essentially the 
advancement of learning. Durham’s Statutes 
charge its Senate and Council with the powers to 
promote education, learning and research. 

Durham has adopted a Strategy 2010-2020 to 
achieve excellence in research and education 
which may be found at  http://www.Strategy 2020.
In setting and reviewing the University’s strategic 
objectives, Council has had due regard to the 
Charity Commission’s guidance on public benefit 
and particularly the supplementary guidance on 
the advancement of education.  

Durham and the North East of England is the 
birthplace of English scholarship and the 
University traces its roots back to the 7th Century 
when Bede (who is buried in Durham) wrote his 
History of the English Church and People. 

Today, Durham’s students experience much 
more than their academically excellent education 
delivered by leading scholars from around the 
world. Each Durham college offers a unique 
environment which provides support and 
opportunities to excel and develop qualities such 
as leadership, open-mindedness, curiosity and 
social responsibility, preparing students to make 
a difference in whatever sphere of life they 
choose.

Innovation for the public good has been part of 
Durham’s ethos from the beginning and 
continues to extend the boundaries of human 
knowledge. This is encapsulated in our values 
which include: 

 to value knowledge and learning for their 
own sake and for their ethical, cultural, 
social and economic benefits 

 to communicate our knowledge and 
learning for the benefit of all 

 to promote diversity, respect for others 
and equality of opportunity 

 to measure all we do against the 
standards of an ethical and sustainable 
world 

Public benefit is embedded in our strategic aims 
and objectives and reporting of progress towards 
achieving these is contained in the Vice-
Chancellor’s Review on pages 9 to 18. Specific 
information is provided below about how the 
University delivers public benefit in all its 
activities. 

EDUCATION 

Durham’s admissions policy is to attract and 
admit the most able and motivated students with 
the greatest potential to contribute to, and to 
benefit from, the education we provide, 
irrespective of their background. Our admissions 
procedures and extensive provision of bursaries 
are designed to support this policy fully. Further 
information on our admission policy is available 
at: http://www.dur.ac.uk/undergraduate/policy

Our bursaries and scholarships include the 
Durham Grant Scheme, which supports 
undergraduate students from low income 
households and provides over 2,000 payments 
amounting to £3.6 million; Vice-Chancellor’s 
Scholarships which are awarded for excellence 
academically and in sport, music and the arts, of 
which 57 have been awarded amounting to £0.1 
million. In addition, Robert Young scholarships 
are available to support gifted undergraduates 
from County Durham while our Afghan  
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Public Benefit - continued 

scholarships bring talented young women to 
Durham for Masters’ programmes. We also offer 
specific hardship funding, of which around 300 
awards are made annually amounting to £0.3 
million.

In addition, we engage in activities to promote 
higher education, both locally and nationally. We 
attend a large number of Undergraduate and 
Postgraduate recruitment events such as 
summer schools, school visits, open days and 
teachers’ conferences to promote Higher 
Education and we offer campus tours for 
prospective students. We attend at least forty 
UCAS conventions, visit in excess of one 
hundred schools and speak to over fifty thousand 
potential applicants.  

Durham promotes among all its students 
excellence in sport, culture and voluntary 
activities, and the opportunities they provide for 
stimulating personal development and the well-
being of the community. Many of Durham’s 
students represent or go on to represent their 
country at their chosen sport. More still provide 
leadership in their career and give back to the 
University and society more generally both in 
terms of funding and expertise.  

Durham provides exceptional pastoral care for all 
students through college communities and best 
practice from professional support services. This 
results in one of the best completion rates in the 
country for undergraduate studies. 

Durham graduates are in high demand with 
employers, as evidenced by our recent ranking of 
24th in the QS world rankings for employability. 
Our Careers Advisory Service assists all 
students, including graduates, to plan their next 
career move with services that include personal 
advice by appointment, psychometric testing and 
general careers information delivered through 
themed talks and supported by information rooms 
providing comprehensive careers resources.  

RESEARCH 

All Durham’s research is undertaken for 
publication (this being a standard condition of 
research funding agreements) so that the corpus 
of publicly available knowledge will be enhanced 
by our research outcomes.     

Durham aims to deliver research in every 
discipline that addresses questions and issues 
with the potential to make significant impact on 

knowledge, people or the economy, or to 
enhance or change society for the better.  

One area of research with particular public 
benefit is carried out by the Wolfson Institute and 
focuses on medicine, health and the wellbeing of 
people and places with particular emphasis on 
the North East of England and involves extensive 
collaborative links with colleagues in the National 
Health Service. 

Around 90% of our academic staff are carrying 
out research of international significance and our 
research-led approach to teaching ensures that 
study programmes are intellectually challenging 
and delivered by leading academics.  

WORLD 

Durham will work wherever is appropriate on 
major world issues and develop international 
partnerships that benefit from, and contribute to, 
national and international agendas. We bring 
leading students and scholars to Durham from 
around the world and educate leaders for the 
world. 

COMMUNITY 

Durham works in partnership with other agencies 
such as Durham County Council, the North East 
Chamber of Commerce, local community and 
voluntary groups in order to share insights, 
professional expertise and values. Membership of 
bodies such as Durham City Vision and Durham 
Area Action Partnership aim to improve the 
locality in which the University is situated. 

The University shares ownership and 
management of the UNESCO World Heritage 
Site with Durham Cathedral and takes pride in 
ensuring that it, together with the surrounding 
peninsula, is maintained and enhanced as a 
place to live and work, for staff, students and 
visitors alike. We will be celebrating the 25th

anniversary of UNESCO’s inscription of the site in 
2011 with the opening of a centre to welcome 
visitors to the site and new public exhibition 
facilities in Palace Green Library. 

The University provides a range of expertise and 
support to local communities through its Phoenix 
scheme, which offers staff an opportunity to 
participate in voluntary work. Students are also 
active in raising funds for charity and in 
community action projects. 

Durham provides facilities open to the public, 
including lectures and concerts, museums, sports 
facilities and other visitor attractions. This is only 
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part of the local impact of the University – further 
details may be found on the following pages: 
www.dur.ac.uk/somuchmore

SUSTAINABILITY 

We strive to be a socially responsible institution 
and objectives in this section of our strategy 
include contributing effectively to economic and 
social development through knowledge 
exchange, enterprise and entrepreneurship; 
establishing partnerships with businesses, social 
enterprises and public sector organisations which 
facilitate translation of our knowledge and 
understanding to wider benefit; raising 
educational aspirations through our work and 
leadership in schools and academies, with an 
emphasis on our locality; and promoting 
volunteering and community engagement as a 
means of using our expertise to contribute to 
social well-being. 

We aim to be environmentally responsible, 
ensuring that our buildings are constructed and 
maintained to high environmental standards and 
that renewable energy is used wherever possible” 
and “reducing our environmental footprint through 
responsible utilities and waste management and 
by developing and implementing a green 
communication and travel policy. 
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Strategy 

The University’s key objectives are set out in its 
Strategy 2010-2020 which can be found at 
http://www.dur.ac.uk/about/strategy2020/ and 
may be summarised as follows:

Introduction 

Durham University’s excellence in research and 
education places it among the top four 
comprehensive universities in the UK (Complete 
University and Good University Guides, 2010). 
However, Durham University has yet to reach its 
full potential. We provide our students with a 
distinctive, collegiate and research-led education 
but need to ensure that this is better understood 
by potential students. In several areas of 
research across the sciences, social science and 
the humanities Durham is recognised as among 
the top handful of institutions in the world; we 
need to achieve similar recognition across all our 
disciplines. Perhaps because of our relative size 
and location we have not been as visible 
internationally as some of our peers.  While 
exceptionally well-regarded in the UK, Durham 
University has yet to reach its full potential on 
the world stage. 

The educational world has changed and 
expanded rapidly over the past few years, and it 
will continue to do so.  We will see increasing 
competition for students, staff and resources 
both within the UK and from overseas. In 
particular, Higher Education in the United 
Kingdom is enduring a time of political and 
financial uncertainty, with significant cuts in 
public spending, uncertainty about Government 
contributions to student fees, and increasingly 
fierce competition for research funding.  This 
poses a number of significant challenges. Only 
through excellence in research and education 
across all its areas of activity will Durham 
University continue to compete successfully for 
the best staff and students, and provide the 
resources necessary for all to study and work 
effectively.   

Our strategy is ambitious, aimed at ensuring that 
Durham University is recognised as an 
international exemplar of the best in research 
and research-led education. We aim to be widely 
recognised as one of the top 5 universities in the 
UK and the top 50 in the world.  To achieve this 
we will build on what already makes Durham 
University distinctive, the human scale of our 
university communities - our departments and 
colleges.  It is not through size that we seek to 
make an impact, but rather by achieving the 
highest standards of excellence in all we do.  

A true world university is one which is recognised 
as a place where leading students and scholars 
both reside and wish to visit from around the 
globe, and one which educates and sends 
leaders around the world.  Our strategy ‘2010 to 
2020; Excellence in Research and Education’ 
aims to deliver this ambition.

Research 

We will be recognised, internationally, for creative 
thought and transformative research of the 
highest calibre across a broad subject base of 
sciences, social sciences, and the humanities. 

Our research and scholarship will benefit from 
and help to shape national and international 
agendas. We will foster new subject-specific, 
interdisciplinary and multidisciplinary ideas. Our 
research will generate outcomes which enhance 
social and human well being, or have the 
potential to do so through shaping academic 
disciplines. We aim to be a place where the most 
motivated postgraduate students and leading 
researchers choose to work and visit.

Education 

We will achieve the highest standards in 
research-led education for both undergraduates 
and postgraduates, linking research and 
education in creative ways. We will provide a 
stimulating environment that empowers all to 
learn and develop to their full potential. We will 
foster enjoyment and esteem of independent 
learning, both formal and informal. We will 
welcome the most able and motivated students, 
whatever their background. 

A Durham University education will build on our 
traditional and distinctive approach to academic 
and personal development. Students will engage 
directly with world-leading scholars in our 
academic departments, supported by exceptional 
opportunities for personal development in our 
residential college communities. Durham 
students will be challenged by the biggest issues 
in their academic discipline while at the same 
time developing and honing skills such as 
teamwork, creativity and leadership through 
opportunities to excel outside their formal 
learning environment, particularly through sport, 
culture and community engagement. They will be 
exceptionally well prepared for their future lives 
and employment.   
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Strategy - continued 

A World University 

Internationalisation at Durham means recognising 
the benefits of individual and cultural diversity in 
all our activities. We will learn from and embed 
best international practice in everything we do. 
We will work, wherever is appropriate, on major 
world issues and develop international 
partnerships that benefit from and contribute to 
national and international agendas. We will bring 
leading students and scholars to Durham 
University from around the world, and educate 
leaders for the world.  

Community and Place – staff students and 
alumni

Durham University is its communities of staff, 
students and alumni, shaped by the places in 
which we live, study and work. We will work, in 
partnership as appropriate, to maintain and 
enhance the University, its local environments 
and its communities as places in which all can 
realise their full potential. 

Sustainability – long-term financial, social and 
environmental responsibilities 

We will use our strengths in scholarship, research 
and education to achieve progressive social, 
environmental and economic benefits, locally and  
internationally.  We will generate, invest and 
manage resources to deliver a sustainable and 
long-term future for the University community, 
and excellence in research and education. 

Each of these themes has a number of aims and 
objectives which in turn have led to the 
development of priorities for which action plans 
are in place. 

Key Performance Indicators 

Accompanying the strategy are Key Performance 
Indicators (KPIs) used to monitor progress 
towards the goals which are reported regularly to 
the Executive Committee and Council. Progress 
during 2009/10 has been consistently good, as 
shown by the extracts below – these are a small 
but representative sub-set of the full suite of KPI’s 
by which the University’s performance is 
measured.

Key Performance Indicators – Strategic Plan 2010 - 2020 

League table position 

To be in the top 5 universities 
in major UK league tables League table 2007 2008 2009 2010 

The Independent Complete University Guide 10th 6th 5th 4th 
The Times Good University Guide 9th 8th 8th 6th 
The Sunday Times University Guide 11th 8th 7th 6th 

To be in the top 50 
universities in the Times 
Higher Education world 
rankings by 2020 

League table 2007 2008 2009 2010 
The THE World University Rankings 109th 122nd 103rd 85th 

Financial performance 
Annual operating surplus for 
reinvestment at level 
determined by Council 

Operating surplus £’million 2006/07 2007/08 2008/09 2009/10 

Actual operating surplus 3.22 7.27 9.89 14.25 
Council target 0.97 3.00 5.00 7.50 

To contain pay costs to 60% 
of total income 

*excluding cost of Voluntary Severance Scheme

Expenditure on staff salaries 2006/07 2007/08 2008/09 2009/10 

% of total income 57% 58% 56% 55%* 

Turnover 
Total income £’million 2006/07 2007/08 2008/09 2009/10 

Total income 193.70 215.25 234.29 248.90 
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Vice-Chancellor’s Review 

Introduction

The University has made excellent progress 
towards achieving its strategic aims during 2009/10 
and continues to be well placed to face the many 
challenges ahead. The speed of change is 
accelerating, affecting the context in which the 
University operates. We acknowledge the impact of 
such changes and are working to ensure that our 
strategy continues to lead us towards achieving our 
goals so that Durham is recognised as an 
international exemplar of the best in research and 
research-led education. My review in these financial 
statements considers both the progress made 
during the year 2009/10 against each of our 
strategic themes and the challenges we face as we 
strive to deliver our strategic objectives. The 
University’s Executive Committee is working to a 
three-year rolling plan designed to achieve success 
in each of these areas. 

Research 

Research Strategy Implementation 

Durham aims to deliver excellence in research and 
teaching and to be pre-eminent among research-led  
Universities. Research Committee has embarked on 
a 5-year work plan to embed research culture 
across all the University’s activities.  Priorities over 
the last year have been as follows and considerable 
progress has been made against each one: 

Priority Progress 
1. Post-RAE Departmental 

research reviews 
Good departmental 
practice 
communicated 

2. Building capacity and 
function in Research 
Office (EU support, 
research intelligence, 
proposal support) 

Greatly enhanced 
EU funding and 
discipline-facing 
teams

3. Develop a seedcorn 
research scheme 

60% success-rate 
on research grant 
applications 
enabled by such 
seedcorn funding 

4. Develop a framework 
for governance, support 
and monitoring of 
University Research 
Institutes  

A framework for 
Research Institutes 
was approved by 
Senate and is now 
implemented  

5. Enhance engagement 
with research funders 

Several Durham 
academics are now 
members of RCUK 
committees

Priority Progress 
6. Create research support 

activities across the 
university 

Termly Research 
Forums, targeted 
Research 
Conversations 
around developing 
programmes and 
proposals, and a 
portfolio of new 
research training 
academics 

Research income

Income from research grants increased during 
2009/10 by over 7% and represents over 19% of 
total income. Our rate of success for research grant 
applications has remained good over recent years.  

There have been several awards of over £1 million 
this year as follows: 

Brief description Value
£m

Physics 
A European Commission award for a 
consortium delivering pan European 
Training in Computational Cosmology. 

3.4

A Research Council award building on a 
successful rolling programme of 
research and development in 
astronomical instrumentation for ground- 
and space-based telescopes. 

2.6

Research Council funding for the Virgo 
consortium, a UK-led international 
collaboration engaged in supercomputer 
simulations of the formation of structure. 

1.6

Research Council Knowledge Transfer 
Account to facilitate the transition of new 
technology into healthcare applications 
by identifying and reducing barriers. 

1.3

Earth Sciences 
Awarded under the prestigious European 
Research Council Starting Investigator 
scheme (pioneering frontier research in 
any field of science), this research 
investigates past hurricane activity 
reconstructed using cave deposits to 
assess whether humans have increased 
storm risk. 

1.3
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Vice-Chancellor’s Review - continued 

Brief description Value
£m

Chemistry 
Awarded under the Research Council 
Leadership Fellowship scheme, 
providing support for talented 
researchers with the most potential to 
develop into international research 
leaders, this project addresses the 
chemistry of carbon rich systems. 

1.1

Geography and others 
Leverhulme Trust funding to investigate 
the existence and predictability of 
“tipping points” in the natural and 
economic environments. 

1.7

Research Institutes

Durham’s eight Research Institutes continue to 
carry out leading edge interdisciplinary research, in 
addition to our many Research Centres which 
operate at a smaller scale.  The Institute for 
Hazard, Risk and Resilience successfully 
coordinated a £2 million research bid to the 
Leverhulme Trust to investigate how “Tipping 
Points” occur, and the Institute for Advanced 
Studies has run a very successful programme 
based on this year’s theme - “Water”.  The new 
Durham Energy Institute has achieved a 
spectacular first year, attracting several government 
visits, industrial and other external funding of three 
chairs, and a large portfolio of research projects 
linking its twin foci of social science and technology.  
The Biophysical Sciences Institute has launched 
a new Masters course in mathematical biology and 
won several multidisciplinary grants.  The Wolfson 
Institute has successfully added to the “health 
campus” at Stockton by bringing the local GP 
training scheme and funding there, and has 
launched new research initiatives in African 
epidemiology and evolutionary medicine.  The 
Institutes for Cosmology and Particle Physics 
have continued to produce among the most cited 
research outputs in the world in their field, and we 
have established a new Institute for Medieval and 
Renaissance Studies. 

Postgraduate student numbers

There has been a continued increase in the number 
of postgraduate students carrying out research, 
bringing the increase over the past four years to 
over 40%. To further support the recruitment of 
postgraduate students, the University has reviewed 
its doctoral fellowship scheme to increase its 

flexibility.

Research facilities

We continue to invest in research facilities as part of 
a rolling programme of research infrastructure 
improvement. Expenditure this year again exceeded 
£5 million and included initial work on the new Law 
School and library extension as well as significant 
purchases of research equipment. The sums 
committed in the capital programme for future years 
are greater at around £9 million annually. 

Future challenges

In several areas of research across the sciences, 
social science and the humanities, Durham is 
already recognised as among the top handful of 
institutions in the world. We are working to achieve 
similar recognition across all our disciplines.  

Our Strategy has the following aims relating to 
Research: 

1. To demonstrate international research 
excellence across our entire academic base 
and take a leading part in developing the 
academic agenda in each of our disciplines. 

2. To increase significantly the number and 
proportion of both postgraduate Masters and 
PhD students and post-doctoral researchers, 
providing each with the best possible quality of 
experience. 

3. To shape and respond to international, national 
and local research agendas. 

4. To raise Durham’s research profile nationally 
and internationally by effectively disseminating 
our research successes and outcomes. 

5. To establish a culture of prioritising support for 
research by all communities across the 
University, enhancing external research funding 
and embedding policies which protect research 
time.
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Vice-Chancellor’s Review - continued 

Immediate future objectives are to: 

 Prepare for success in the 2013 Research 
Excellence Framework by  supporting the 
quality of personal contextual research planning 
annually and ensuring that all new academic 
appointments contribute to this aim; 

 Improve our performance in winning research 
funding by continuing to increase the support 
available to applicants; 

 Enhance the recruitment, funding and provision 
for research students through the Durham 
Doctoral Training Centre framework; 

 Create a framework for Research Centres, 
enabling them to engage in inter- and multi-
disciplinary research with the clarity of mission 
now afforded to Institutes; 

 Develop best practice in supporting research 
within Colleges Division; 

 Identify and support key international 
partnerships for research collaboration and use 
these to internationalise the experience of 
postgraduate research students. 

Education

Quality

Durham continues to place a high priority on the 
quality of its learning and teaching at both 
undergraduate and postgraduate levels.  

Student levels of satisfaction are amongst the 
highest in the country and in the National Student 
Survey 2010 Durham improved its performance in 
three areas - Assessment, Academic Support, and 
Learning Resources. In the remaining three areas, 
Teaching, Organisation & Management and 
Personal Development, the high performance was 
identical to that in 2009. Overall satisfaction was 
87%.

Completion rates at Durham have traditionally 
been very high and continue to be so. To support 
our e-learning strategy, we have appointed an 
academic lead to develop and embed new 
technology enhanced learning technologies across 
the University. In 2009/10 we reviewed how the 
University engages with its students in the 
management of learning, teaching and the student 
experience and developed a set of principles for 
future student engagement. Alongside the new 
Research Strategy, a new Education Strategy 
2010-2015 was approved, supported by an annual 
action plan that sets out an ambitious agenda. In 
2010/11 we plan to review our curriculum and our 

approach to student support across departments, 
colleges and professional services to meet the 
goals of our new strategy. 

Student body

The size and diversity of the student body 
continues to develop. Durham bid for Additional 
Student Numbers in Strategic and Vulnerable 
Subjects (namely Physics, Chemistry and 
Mathematics) which resulted in a modest increase 
in total Home/EU student numbers. Undergraduate 
recruitment proceeded well and met the target 
numbers. Postgraduate student numbers also 
increased in line with our targets.  

Engagement with the widening participation and 
access agenda has been pursued through a 
variety of means, primarily those set out as follows: 
enhanced schools liaison, a compact scheme 
entitled ‘Enhanced Progression’ targeted at 
schools in County Durham, meetings with 
representative groups of the secondary school 
sector, more effective marketing and annual 
refresher training for all staff who engage in the 
recruitment and admissions process.  

We have also reviewed our approach to the use of 
contextual information to strengthen its use in our 
admissions decisions. A review of our approach to 
Open Days is currently underway and is expected 
to report in 2010/11. Our Vice-Chancellor’s 
scholarship scheme offering 25 undergraduate 
scholarships in sport, music and the performing 
arts has been very successful in attracting highly 
academically qualified applicants who have 
excelled in other areas of their lives. To promote 
academic excellence, Durham has also awarded 
20 Vice-Chancellor's Scholarships for Academic 
Excellence worth £2,000 each to full-time 
undergraduate students on the basis of their 
performance in modules studied throughout the 
academic year.  

Employability and Skills

Durham recognises this as a key issue and we are 
implementing a comprehensive Employability and 
Skills Strategy, approved in 2009, which is explicit 
about Durham’s commitment to employability and 
personal development. We established an 
Employability and Skills Steering Group that brings 
together employers, alumni, students, academic 
and college staff and the leadership of our 
professional services to support our goals. A 
review of the Careers Advisory Service by alumni, 
employers and students has been completed and a 
review of the Centre for Entrepreneurial Learning is 
underway. In 2009/10 we re-launched Personal 
Development Plans for students through our  
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College support network and ran a very successful 
pilot Durham (Key Skills) Award for final year 
students which will be offered to a larger number of 
students in 2010/11. Also in 2001/11, we plan to 
refocus our Student Employment Service towards 
high quality internships and placements and to 
further strengthen the links between our alumni 
and current students.  

Colleges

Colleges play a crucial role in students’ personal 
development, enabling Durham students to 
participate fully in social, sporting and cultural 
activities within supportive communities. 
Undergraduate students, through their Junior 
Common Rooms, take responsibility for organising 
much of what takes place within each college which  
gives a flavour to their student experience that is 
unique to Durham.  Postgraduates have a choice of 
being members of either the all post-graduate 
college or joining a college with undergraduates, in 
which case they will have their own common room 
arrangements to reflect their differing needs. 

The results of our student surveys are consistently 
good and improving and we achieved an 87% 
satisfaction rating and 19th place in the 2010 
National Student Survey.  Through our internal 
Colleges Student Experience Survey, where 
students tell us we need to do better, we listen.  
Comments in an earlier survey about the need to 
improve standards of food provision led to a 
University-wide review of catering and the outcome 
of this work has been carried forward in 2010.  

There is an on-going programme to upgrade the 
standard of student accommodation with a regular 
investment of over £4 million per annum planned 
for the coming 5 years on major refurbishments, 
together with a further £2 million each year on 
infrastructure improvements.  In the past year there 
has been significant investment at Queen’s 
Campus on common room space in the colleges 
together with a new sports hall.  This is in addition 
to the work on sports facilities at Durham, giving an 
overall investment of £12 million for improved 
sporting facilities. 

Sport achievement

The number of undergraduates opting to participate 
in sporting activities continues to be one of the 
highest in the country with close to 90% engaged in 
one form or another. Many are performing at the 
top of their chosen discipline, with Durham finishing 
sixth in the British Universities and Colleges Sports 

league table, with a special note for rowing where 
Durham has continued its successes of previous 
years. 

League table position

Durham has further consolidated its position in the 
major UK league tables, being ranked 4th in the 
Independent Complete University Guide (up from 
5th), 6th in the Times Good University Guide (up 
from 8th), and 6th (up from 7th) in the Sunday Times. 
Durham was ranked 85 in the new Times Higher 
Education World University Rankings.  

Future challenges

Durham’s Strategy has the following aims relating 
to Education: 

1. To provide an academic education that is 
research-led and transformative, a curriculum 
underpinned by excellence in teaching facilities and 
a culture of reflective practice. 
2. To provide our students with outstanding and 
distinctive opportunities for personal development, 
ensuring future success and employability. 
3. To ensure a diverse and international student 
experience. 

The Strategy sets out a challenge to achieve wider 
recognition as an outstanding place to study and to 
achieve excellence in performance across the 
entire University. We will set the highest standards 
in research-led education for both undergraduates 
and postgraduates, linking research and education 
in distinctive and creative ways. Students will 
engage directly with world-leading scholars in our 
academic departments supported by opportunities 
for personal development in our residential College 
communities, ensuring future success and 
employability. We will welcome the most able and 
motivated students with the greatest potential, 
whatever their background. The activities planned 
for 2010/11 to achieve these aims have been set 
out in the paragraphs above. In addition our capital 
investment programme, which is described in detail 
below, will provide improvements in our library, Law 
School, and student services (admissions, 
counselling, welfare support and careers advice). 

A World University 

A central ambition in our Strategy is for Durham to 
be recognised globally as one of the top 5 UK 
universities and among the top 50 in the world.  The 
effective internationalisation of all aspects of the 
University’s activity is vital not only to enhance our 
prestige world-wide but in order to ensure financial 
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sustainability. Increased interest in and 
engagement with internationalisation activities has 
continued across the institution during 2009/10. 

Seven Regional Interest Groups are now active 
(see further details on the website at 
http://www.dur.ac.uk/international/global) and 
through these groups we have identified potential 
strategic partners in key global regions. For 
example, partnerships have been developed with 
seven leading universities in East Asia increasing 
opportunities for staff and student exchange, 
collaborative research and raising the University’s 
international profile. 

In addition, the University joined the Matariki 
Network of Universities (MNU) as a founding 
member.  This network is an international group of 
outstanding universities with each member leading  
international best practice in research and 
education based on long academic traditions. The 
MNU has been established to enable the 
universities to enhance diversity, to share ideas and 
expertise and to learn international best practice 
from each other, recognising the shared 
commitment to an ethos of excellence in research, 
scholarship and rounded education. 

International student numbers increased by 11% in 
2009/10, with an increase of 14.7% in postgraduate 
taught student numbers.  The diversification of the 
student body remains a priority for the University to 
mitigate the risk of over reliance on a small number 
of markets but also to ensure the quality of 
experience of staff and students. 

Future Challenges 

Durham’s Internationalisation Strategy will be 
launched in November 2010 and will outline a 
number of areas for development.  These include 
how the University will: 

 continue to attract the very best students, post 
docs and visiting fellows from around the world 
through increasing funding and scholarship 
opportunities and ensuring that they are promoted 
as widely as possible; 

 provide a greater proportion of Durham students 
with an international  study, work or volunteering 
opportunity  in order that our students are best 
placed to succeed in the global workplace; 

 harness our global alumni in order to support 
Durham in achieving our institutional and 
internationalisation objectives.

Community and place 

We have recognised in our strategy that Durham 
University is essentially its communities of staff, 
students and alumni, shaped by the places in which 
we live, study and work. This facet of the strategy 
will focus on achieving the following aims: 

1. To provide an equitable and supportive working 
environment which ensures that all our staff and 
students contribute effectively to our 
communities, that excellence is valued and in 
which a collegial ethos enables everyone to 
reach their full potential. 

2. To provide leadership, in partnership with local 
and regional bodies, in order to ensure that 
Durham University and its environs continue to 
develop as places where the best staff and 
students want to come to live, work and study. 

3. To ensure that each of our sites is fully 
integrated and part of the whole, equivalent in 
excellence and ethos and fit for its particular 
purpose.  

Sustainability 

This theme encompasses the University’s long term 
responsibilities to ensure sustainability in social, 
environmental and financial matters. The strategic 
aims are: 

1. To be a socially responsible institution, working 
with partners to enhance economic and social 
development internationally, nationally and 
locally. 

2. To be an environmentally responsible 
organisation, minimising our environmental 
impact and promoting environmental 
sustainability throughout the University. 

3. To ensure the long-term financial sustainability 
of the University. 

Social and economic

Activities in 2009/10 to promote economic and 
social development in our region have been 
undertaken as follows: 

Durham agreed to host the Institute of Local 
Governance, a partnership of the five North East 
universities and the region's public services. The 
aim of the Institute is to support innovation across 
the public services and establish the region's 
position as a world-class public services leader, 
particularly addressing the difficulties encountered 
during the period of the recession. 

Durham won £1.2m of funding in 2009 from the UK 
Research Councils and the Wellcome Trust for the 
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Beacon for Public Engagement, a partnership with  
Newcastle University and the Centre for Life.  The 
Beacon aims to create an effective two-way 
knowledge exchange between researchers in the 
universities and the rest of society, producing 
tangible outputs that will contribute to positive social 
change. In partnership with the Beacon, the 
Phoenix initiative is the University's staff community 
outreach and engagement programme.  It includes 
an innovative staff volunteering scheme, 
complementing existing student volunteering 
activities, as well as opening up possibilities for 
community groups and social economy 
organisations to access the resources of the 
University. This is an on-going consultation among 
staff to identify existing activities and ideas for future 
developments that can be taken forward in a co-
ordinated way. 

We continued to support external developments in 
the region. For example:  

NETPark is the North East’s most successful 
Science Park and its expansion is a central 
element in County Durham’s economic 
development strategy and will offer a number of 
opportunities for the University and spin-out 
companies. A Memorandum of Understanding 
has been signed between the University, The 
Centre for Process Industries and County Durham 
Development Company to promote and win 
external funding for expansion.  

We launched the Durham Industrial Bridging 
Fellowship scheme, with funding of £0.9 million 
from One North East and the Funding Council. 
This provides an opportunity for people who are 
on short-time or reduced hours working, who have 
recently been made redundant, or whose jobs are 
under threat of redundancy to span a period of up 
to 12 months working in the University on 
research-based activities that will enhance their 
skills portfolio and employability. To date 19 
people have been awarded these Fellowships. 

The University is a board member of the County 
Durham Partnership, which brings together the 
County Council, public sector agencies and the 
private and voluntary sectors in developing  and 
taking forward a development strategy for the 
County. We also sit on the Durham Area Action 
Partnership which aims to improve service 
provision for the local community.  

We have continued to lead the consortium 
sponsoring the development of proposals for two 
academy schools, one of which is planned to be 

in Consett, County Durham. The other was 
planned to be in Durham City but has had funding 
withdrawn by the coalition government and is now 
unlikely to go ahead. Consultation on the 
proposals has been led by Durham County 
Council and preferred option sites have been 
identified. The Academies project is the first  to be 
developed under the framework of the Durham 
Excellence in Education project, a collaboration 
between the University, Durham County Council; 
and the North East Chamber of Commerce, which 
seeks to enhance the quality of secondary 
educational provision across County Durham. 

Environmental

Considerable progress is being made as follows: 
 We have updated our environmental policy in 

line with the requirements of “EcoCampus”, 
which is a national Environmental Management 
System for the higher education sector. We 
have adopted this system, have already 
achieved the bronze level award and will shortly 
submit for a silver award.  

 We have a number of specific policies for 
energy management, biodiversity, Fairtrade and 
sustainable procurement as well as two Green 
Travel plans (one each for Durham and 
Stockton).  

 We have developed a suite of procedures which 
is available on the University’s intranet to help 
staff and students know how to dispose of their 
waste. 

Durham has signed up to the Carbon Trust’s Higher 
Education Carbon Management programme which 
provides technical and change management 
support to help universities to realise savings in 
carbon emissions. The initial aim is to produce a 
carbon management plan for adoption by Council 
by 31st March 2011. As part of this work, we are 
increasing our carbon reduction target to 30% over 
the five years to 20013/14, which will be very 
challenging to attain.  To help achieve this, we are 
using Environment Champions and volunteers to 
drive changes in behaviour by staff and students 
respectively.  

We have appointed a Green Travel Plan coordinator 
to promote actions in support of these plans, who 
will be working closely with the Estates department 
on new car parking arrangements which are due to 
be introduced by 2012.  
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Environmental successes this year have been: 
 carbon emissions reduced by 5.5% 

compared with 2008/9; 
 Colleges and visitor attractions are being 

audited as part of the national Green 
Tourism Business Scheme. So far, three 
gold and three silver awards have been 
received; 

 Fairtrade University status was retained; 
 Durham’s “Green Move Out” scheme (which 

recycles students’ property at the end of 
term) received a commendation in the 
Durham County Environment Awards; 

 the Environment Champion scheme was 
shortlisted in the Times Higher  awards for 
Outstanding Contribution to Sustainable 
Development; 

 the Procurement Service won a Green 
Gown award for Sustainable Procurement. 

Financial

The University must continue to be financially 
sustainable and another year of substantial 
operating surplus has again contributed to our 
financial strength. Careful budgetary management 
enabled us to deliver this surplus, which exceeded 
that budgeted. More detail on our financial 
performance in 2009/10 is contained in the 
Treasurer’s Report.  

The financial climate continues to be uncertain, both 
globally and in the UK’s public finances. Our 
financial strategy, which supports the overall 
strategy, requires us to achieve several objectives: 

i. Diversify income sources by aligning strengths 
to funding opportunities; 

ii. Embed transparent financial practices which 
reward success and focus resources on core 
academic activities; 

iii. Actively manage costs, including evaluation of 
all investment decisions and post-
implementation assessments; 

iv. Improve information systems to support 
streamlining of processes; 

v. Continue to achieve operating surpluses to 
enable investment in infrastructure; 

vi. Take a balanced approach to risk along with 
rapid decision-making. 

Our financial plans have undergone fundamental 
review during the year, which included scenario 
modelling to test their sensitivity to a range of 
potential adverse conditions. The conclusion of this 
work was that we are well-placed to meet such 
potential challenges and that our policy of 

establishing contingencies against the 
underachievement of income targets provides 
significant ability to withstand income shortfalls in 
those areas. The area of most significant risk was 
identified as growth in pay costs and we have 
begun to take action to limit the impact of this risk. 

Our financial plans approved by Council in July 
included reductions in public funding at the level 
then expected, but the Browne Review and 
subsequent Comprehensive Spending Review have 
caused us to revise our assessment of their scale 
and impact. Our planned response remains to grow 
our non-regulated income streams and to reduce 
our cost base in a number of areas to improve 
efficiency, particularly improving our use of space 
and reducing energy and pay costs. We have 
introduced a Voluntary Severance Scheme, agreed 
applications to which will deliver savings in staff 
costs of around £4 million annually. The scheme will 
be held open to enable us to continue to adjust our 
staffing base. We have also identified a number of 
short term emergency measures (such as delaying 
non-essential developments) that could be invoked 
if necessary to provide time for longer-term 
measures to take effect. 

Capital investment

Our financial plans include a significant capital 
programme which will see the investment of over 
£35 million per annum over the next five years, over 
half of which will be to maintain existing 
infrastructure. This is an important component of 
our capital investment alongside the need to 
continually develop the estate and its capability to 
support our research and education objectives.  

We continue to press forward with the main capital 
investment scheme which will include a new Law 
School and library extension and will incorporate the 
development of a new building to consolidate 
student services and the University's executive 
team. The building contracts were signed in June 
2010 and work will be completed in late 2012. 

In addition to this, projects are under way to develop 
exhibition space within Palace Green Library in the 
UNESCO World Heritage Site, to create a Centre 
for Sporting Excellence, to improve further the 
catering facilities throughout the estate, to improve 
student social space and sporting facilities at 
Queen’s Campus as well as continuing expenditure 
on improving the infrastructure of the estate.  There 
are also early plans for a number of projects to 
support our research and teaching ambitions. 

Our future capital programme will be influenced by 
available funding, both internally generated and 
deriving from philanthropic gifts. 
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Information Technology (IT) 

During 2009/10 we have continued to progress the 
implementation of the IT Strategy with activity on 
the following projects: 

 An upgrade to the University’s core data network 
and introduction of a core IP Telephony system.  
Remediation of local network equipment and 
rollout of the new IP telephone handsets across 
the University is underway. Completion 2012. 

 Bringing the University’s core administrative 
systems back in house on 1st September 2010. 

 Introducing a new University IT Organisation as a 
pre-requisite to unification of our IT infrastructure 
and developing an holistic approach to IT which 
will ensure greater consistency, resilience and 
efficiency in the way IT services are developed 
and delivered.  Completion Sept 2011. 

 Planning for a unified infrastructure is being taken 
forward, initially for scoping of a data centre and 
storage solution and proposals for security 
hardening. 

 Supporting the IT provision in the new Gateway 
building to ensure that appropriate enabling 
technologies are in place prior to occupation. 

Other projects completed during the year include 
improvements to desktop provision for some users 
and service levels, along with improvements to 
machine room infrastructure and disaster recovery 
arrangements. 

Our risk-based approach to areas of concern has 
led to action in the areas of security hardening and 
business continuity at major network locations. 

The first 5-year rolling plan for University-wide IT 
developments is nearing completion. This work is 
aligned with the University’s business planning 
processes to ensure appropriate prioritisation of 
projects.  

An Information Systems Strategy is under 
development which will provide the framework for a 
coherent programme of application developments 
to ensure that our core administrative systems can 
provide regular, consistent and accurate 
information and reporting to meet the needs of both 
the central administration and academic 
departments. 

Estate

The Estate Strategy adopted in 2004 is nearing 
completion. The actions identified within it, where 
not deferred, either have been completed or are 
now in progress. During 2009/10 this has seen: 

 Continuing refurbishment of existing lecture 
theatres, seminar rooms and College 
accommodation. 

 Creation of a Centre for Sporting Excellence at 
Maiden Castle that will include state-of-the-art 
rowing facilities. 

 Provision of a new Sports Hall at Stockton. 
 Commencement of the Gateway Project that will 

provide a range of new facilities along the 
Stockton Road including a Law School, a Library 
extension, a student services and executive 
headquarters building and improvements to the 
environment of the existing Science Site. 

 As part of the same project, refurbishment of 
office accommodation at Mountjoy and 
restructuring of academic departments on the 
Bailey.   

 A scheme is being prepared for the extension 
and restructuring of the Business School. 

 Programmes to reduce the backlog 
maintenance liability and improve energy 
efficiency. 

In addition to work relating to the Estate Strategy, 
the University has also created a public exhibition 
and performance space in its Palace Green 
Library and will be providing a World Heritage Site 
interpretation centre in partnership with Durham 
Cathedral and Durham County Council. 

A new Estate Strategy is being developed to 
respond to the aims of the University’s Strategy 
2010 – 2020. This will acknowledge the 
challenges the University faces as it enters a 
period of financial stringency and will focus on: 

 better use of space by improved utilisation 
 rationalisation of the existing estate and 

improvement in its quality 
 reduction in energy consumption. 

Whilst the University’s Strategy is based on some 
growth in student numbers, these will be primarily 
postgraduate students who will be located 
academically in space created through the 
Gateway Project and by rationalising existing 
space. 
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Staff

During 2009 the Executive Committee conducted a 
strategic review of the University’s HR policies and 
practices to ensure that these were focused on 
helping all staff to contribute to the success of the 
University in a manner consistent with the 
University’s strategy. As well as identifying many 
areas of existing good practice, the review resulted 
in an action plan covering the main initiatives set 
out below.  

A major induction event for heads of departments 
and colleges was held in October 2009 and a 
review of all-staff induction events took place, 
including a review of our web-based general 
introduction to the University, resulting in events 
being planned on a new basis for 2010/11.  

This year also saw a major development with the 
implementation of a new e-recruitment system for 
staff to provide consistent branding and messages, 
improved candidate experience and faster 
turnaround across all processes.  With over 97% of 
all applications for jobs now reaching us via the 
web, this new system has enabled Durham to 
remain competitive in its search for and recruitment 
of excellent international staff. 

We reviewed our probation guidance and criteria for 
new lecturing staff and put in place new probation 
procedures for all our staff.  A noteworthy feature of 
the guidance was that we set out very clearly our 
expectations on conduct and collegial behaviour 
which married up with work undertaken on 
University Aims and Values in our revised Strategy.  

A review was undertaken in conjunction with the 
Academic Progression Committee of the criteria for 
promotion to Senior Lecturer, and work will be 
completed in 2010 with revisions to the guidance 
and criteria for promotion to Reader and Professor.  

2009/10 also saw the implementation of changes to 
provide a simple and more transparent process for 
rewarding our professorial staff, while work began 
too on refining the measures used to evaluate 
senior professional support staff jobs.    

We continued our commitment to developing future 
academic leaders through the successful 
implementation of a Head of Department 
development programme, building on our existing 
well-regarded Leadership & Management 
programme.  We also established a new joint 
academic/non-academic leadership programme 

and introduced more formal systems of coaching 
and mentoring for staff in senior posts. 

During the course of the year the HR team 
continued to support Faculty PVCs and Heads of 
Department in implementing performance 
improvement procedures.  Durham’s staff appraisal 
scheme, Annual Staff Review, was also reviewed 
and enhanced by the addition of personal research 
planning for academic staff for full implementation 
in 2010. 

The most significant step forward in modernising 
the University’s HR policies and procedures took 
place with the work undertaken to reform our 
statutes to provide clear, usable procedures 
covering discipline, grievance, redundancy, 
capability, and procedures covering removal from 
office, e.g. Head of Department.  This major 
undertaking highlighted the excellent staff relations 
which exist at Durham with members of the local 
trade unions working in partnership with University 
representatives to bring about much needed 
reforms, culminating in approval by Council of new 
Regulations governing staff management and by 
the Privy Council in June of a revised Statute which 
now applies to all our staff.  

Looking ahead, there are a number of projects 
aimed at modernising Durham’s approach to staff 
management and development, including further 
reforms to University Statutes governing the 
recruitment and selection of academic staff, 
improvements to staff induction and development, 
updating of the criteria and guidance on promotion 
and progression and the implementation of revised 
rewards schemes for senior staff.  We shall also be 
developing the University’s response to new 
legislative requirements, notably the Single Equality 
Scheme and the abolition of the default retirement 
age.  Planned re-organisations of operational 
services will benefit from the work undertaken this 
year to reform our Statutes.    

Risk

The University has a comprehensive process to 
identify, assess, mitigate and monitor risk. During 
2009/10 the University’s strategic risk register has 
been fully revised by the Executive Committee, who 
each have assigned roles as risk owners, and 
strategic risks were approved by Council in May. 
Work is continuing into 2010/11 to develop the 
tactical risks underpinning the strategic risks already 
identified so as to link strategic risks to the risk 
mitigation actions being taken by risk managers. 
This will also link to the action plan supporting the 
delivery of the Strategy 2010-2020.  
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The risk management framework has been refined 
during 2009/10 to ensure that programme, project 
and departmental risks are identified, assessed, 
mitigated and monitored through the pan-University 
planning process.  

Programme and project risk have been considered 
as part of the annual planning process and are 
routinely considered as part of project management 
arrangements, most significantly by the IT Service 
and Estates and Buildings Department.  

The University’s most significant operational risks 
have been identified as follows: 

 Achievement of student number targets. 
 Recruitment and retention of key or specialist 

staff. 
 Need for enhanced research infrastructure. 
 Achievement and generation of research grant 

funding. 
 IT failure and supporting processes. 

Further reference to the University’s risk 
management process may be found in the 
Corporate Governance statement.  

Conclusion

Durham University has performed strongly in every 
aspect of its activities during 2009/10 and is well 
placed to meet the challenges presented by its 
ambitious strategy and the increasingly competitive 
environment in which it operates. I am very grateful 
to all staff, students and supporters who have 
worked incredibly hard throughout the year to make 
possible all the achievements described above and 
I have every confidence that all will continue to 
deliver outstanding success for Durham in the 
coming year.  

Professor Chris Higgins 
Vice-Chancellor 
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Scope of the Financial Statements 

The Financial Statements comprise the results of the 
activities channelled through the University as a legal 
entity consolidated with the results of its subsidiary 
undertakings Durham University Investments Limited 
and Library Services (Durham) Limited.  Durham 
University Investments Limited is the holding 
company of a number of subsidiaries undertaking 
activities such as property development and the 
provision of conference and tourist facilities which, 
for commercial and legal reasons, are more 
appropriately channelled through limited companies.  
These subsidiaries transfer the whole of any taxable 
profits to the University under gift aid. 

Results for the Year 

The University’s consolidated income, expenditure 
and results for the year to 31 July 2010 are 
summarised as follows: 

2009/10 2008/09 

£m £m 

INCOME 
Total net income         248.9 234.2

EXPENDITURE
Staff costs 
Other operating costs 
Depreciation 
Interest and finance 

142.7 
82.8 
12.1 
4.3

129.0
77.0
11.5
4.3

Total expenditure 241.9 221.8

Surplus 7.0 12.4

Taxation 0.1 -

Deficit transferred to 
endowment funds 

1.1 0.3

Surplus retained in 
general reserves 8.2 12.7

The University’s total income increased by 6.2% in 
2009/10 compared with the previous year. Income 
from funding council grants grew by 2.7% while 
tuition fees increased by 13.2%. Income from the 
tuition fees of full time students from outside the 
European Union continued to grow, this year by 
18.8%. External research income grew by 7.1% to 
£48.3 million whilst other income increased by 5.8% 
to £50 million.  

The rate of increase of expenditure was 9.1%.  Non-
pay costs increased by 7.5%, while staff costs 
(excluding the cost of the Voluntary Severance 
Scheme (“VSS”) at £5.5 million) rose by 6.3%. 
Depreciation charges increased by 4.1% in the year 
and were partially offset by the release of capital 
grants of £6.8 million as explained in note 24. 

The surplus prior to VSS of £12.5 million was £5 
million higher than originally budgeted. This 
improvement was due principally to higher than 
forecast tuition fee income (£4.3 million), additional 
income from overheads earned from externally 
funded research grants (£0.7 million) and additional 
residence fees and conference and trading income 
(£1.2 million). A further contribution was made by 
reduced depreciation costs (£0.7 million) due to 
slippage in the capital programme and lower interest 
costs on borrowing (£0.6 million) due to a 
combination of lower interest rates and reduced loan 
drawdown. As a result of these improvements, £2 
million was released to meet in-year spending 
priorities. 

Student numbers 

Full-time student numbers increased by 2.4% in the 
year.  Full-time students from the United Kingdom 
and other countries in the European Union increased 
by 0.9% whilst full-time students from outside the 
European Union increased by 11.2%. This is in line 
with our strategic objective to increase both the 
number and proportion of international students in 
Durham’s student body. The proportion of 
postgraduate students also increased, on taught 
courses by 6.3% and research by 4.7%. These 
trends are represented graphically below: 

0

1000

2000

3000

04 05 06 07 08 09 10

Overseas students
2004 2010



DURHAM UNIVERSITY     Financial Statements    31 July 2010 

20

Treasurer’s Report - continued 

Capital structure 

During the year options for the University’s future 
capital structure were reviewed, as a result of which 
it was recognised that future policy would require 
access to alternative funding markets; in the long 
term the University is likely to consider a private 
placement as its next source of capital funding. 

For current funding requirements, influenced by the 
favourable terms of existing bank loans, further bank 
borrowing has been agreed as set out in note 22. 
This will provide funding for known capital plans as 
well as a £10 million opportunities fund which can be 
drawn and utilised as required and a £15 million 
revolving fund for working capital purposes. In 
addition to the hedging instruments currently in 
place, the University has agreed to fix the interest 
rate for a total of 60% of the outstanding loan 
balance and will be executing an interest rate hedge 
during 2010/11 to give this effect. 

Treasury and Investment Performance 

The University’s treasury policy is designed to 
maintain liquidity (ensuring that sufficient liquid 
resources are available to meet the liabilities of the 
University as they fall due), minimise the costs of 
borrowing, maximise cleared funds available for 
short-term investment and invest these funds for best 
return with minimum risk. During the year an average 
of £66m (including endowment fund balances) has 
been invested over periods ranging from instant 
access to four months at an average return of 0.51%. 

The University also has a longer term pooled 
investment fund, operating within an agreed range of 
asset allocations. The investment manager was 
newly appointed in 2008 and under their care the 
portfolio returned a total of 16.4%, outperforming the 
benchmark by 2%. The value of the University’s total 
endowment assets has increased from £52.7 million 
to £57.8 million. A breakdown of the changes is given 
in note 15. 

Cash flow and liquidity 

Cash flow on a cumulative basis is positive through 
most of the annual cycle (excluding capital 
expenditure), with net outflow experienced only in 
August and September.  

Debt collection continues to be vigorously pursued 
and the outstanding debt position is monitored on a 
monthly basis. The value of debts written off during 
the year was £68,000 (2008/09: £121,000), which 
represents less than 0.1% of invoiced income. 

Our policy on the payment of creditors is to pay 
within 30 days of receiving a valid invoice and has 
been maintained during the year. 

The increase in cash and short-term deposits is 
attributable to grants received in advance of 
expenditure and the deferral of capital expenditure. 
The recent approval of significant capital projects, 
together with others currently being planned, is 
expected to lead to the available cash balance being 
progressively utilised.

The University’s deposit with Heritable Bank, 
which is in administration, has been included in 
debtors. We have received repayments to date 
from the administrators amounting to 41% and 
expect eventually to recover at least 70% of the 
original £2.5 million. 

Capital projects and financing 

The increase in net fixed assets during the year 
amounted to £8.7 million.  In total, £21.6 million 
was spent on buildings and equipment to support 
the University’s research mission and to refurbish 
teaching accommodation and student residences, 
the major components of which are described in 
the following paragraphs.   

The University is committed to ensuring the 
quality of the Durham student experience and this 
year has spent £6.2 million to refurbish and 
upgrade student accommodation and facilities 
and a further £2.5 million on its rolling programme 
to refurbish existing lecture theatres and 
departmental facilities.  

To support the research agenda, £4 million has 
been spent on refurbishment of premises and the 
acquisition and replacement of equipment, partly 
funded by grants for this purpose.  

Implementation of the University’s IT strategy 
requires the upgrading of its data networks and a 
further £1.3 million was invested in this project; 
the full project budget now stands at £5.0 million. 
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Treasurer’s Report - continued 

A further £3.8 million has been invested in the 
development of, and enabling works for, the 
capital scheme which will include a major new 
Law School and library extension and will 
incorporate the development of a new building to 
consolidate student services and the University's 
executive team. 

To assist in achieving carbon reduction targets 
and to contribute towards energy cost savings, a 
major renewal of heating provision is under way 
for departments and colleges located on the 
Durham peninsula costing almost £8 million in 
total, of which £1.3 million has been spent in 
2009/10. 

The capital projects outlined above have been 
funded by grants, benefactions and internally 
generated funds; the University currently has an 
undrawn borrowing facility of up to £78 million 
which is available for the major capital 
developments currently being planned. 

Plans for further development of the University’s 
estate are outlined in the Vice-Chancellor’s 
review. 

Financial KPIs 

We have developed eight financial performance 
indicators and are reporting against these 
regularly. The results for 2009/10 are set out 
below:  

Indicator Control 2009/10 
Solvency 
Net borrowing as a 
percentage of Net 
Assets 

60% max 4.3% 

1.25 times debt service 
cover against available 
cash 

1.0 min 8.1  

Liquidity 
Current ratio including 
near cash 

1.0 min 1.6 

Days’ cash held 
including near cash 

40 min 120 
days

Indicator Control 2009/10 
Sustainability
Operating surplus % of 
total income 

3.5%
target 

5.7%

Operating cash flow as 
a % of total income 

7% target 10.9% 

Resilience
Staff costs as % of total 
income 

60% max 55%* 

Cash and near cash 
balance 

£25m min £75.7m 

* Excluding cost of Voluntary Severance Scheme 

Future outlook 

2010 has seen the beginning of a new period of 
austerity in the UK’s public finances, with the 
average rate of reduction in public funding for 
Higher Education including student support costs 
expected to be almost 40%. The specific manner 
in which these reductions will apply to Durham is 
not yet known and we expect the position to be 
gradually clarified during the first quarter of 2011. 
We have modelled their anticipated impact at a 
high level for our base case financial forecasts. 
We have also identified the impact should the 
reductions turn out to be more severe and 
confirmed that in such circumstances our existing 
contingency plans should be sufficient. The 
Executive Committee has identified and prioritised 
action plans to protect the annual surplus at the 
level required to deliver the strategy. 

The next decade will be challenging for all 
institutions which receive significant public 
funding. Universities will be expected to contribute 
significantly to supporting the national economic 
recovery, whilst simultaneously adjusting to a 
fundamental change in their funding structure. In 
Durham, we aim to ensure that we use this 
opportunity to build on our recognised strengths in 
order to achieve our published strategy.   

P Lubacz 
Treasurer 

23 November 2010
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Structure of Corporate Governance, Responsibilities of Council in preparation of the 
Financial Statements and System of Internal Control  

Structure of Corporate Governance 

The University conducts its business in 
accordance with the seven principles identified by 
the Committee on Standards in Public Life 
(selflessness, integrity, objectivity, accountability, 
openness, honesty and leadership), and with the 
Governance Code of Practice (“the Code”) issued 
by the Committee of University Chairmen in its 
Guide for Members of HE Governing Bodies in 
the UK.

The University is an independent corporation 
founded in 1832, whose legal status derives from 
a royal charter. It is an educational charity with 
exempt status, regulated by the Higher Education 
Funding Council for England (HEFCE) as 
Principal Regulator. The University’s objects, 
powers and framework of governance are set out 
in the charter and its supporting statutes, the 
latest version of which was approved by the Privy 
Council in June 2010. The statutes are available 
at:
http://www.dur.ac.uk/university.calendar/volumei/
statutes

The statutes require the University to have two 
separate bodies, each with clearly defined 
functions and responsibilities, to oversee and 
manage its activities, as follows:  

Council

Council is the governing and executive body of 
the University and its board of Trustees. It has the 
custody, control and disposition of all its property 
and finances, and is responsible for setting the 
strategic direction of the institution. Subject to the 
powers of Senate, it has ultimate responsibility for 
all the affairs of the University. It is responsible for 
reviewing the work of the University and taking 
such steps as it thinks proper for the purpose of 
advancing the interests of the University, 
maintaining its efficiency and encouraging the 
prosecution of learning and research in the 
University. 

All Council members are Trustees. The majority of 
members are from outside the University (“lay 
members”), from whom its Chairman and Deputy 
Chairman must be drawn. Members also include 
staff of the University and representatives of the 
student body. Details of Council’s membership 
are set out on page 4.   None of the lay members 
receive any payment for the work they do for the 
University, apart from the reimbursement of  

reasonable expenses which are disclosed in Note 
8 to the financial statements. 

Senate

Senate is the supreme governing body of the 
University in all academic matters and draws its 
membership from senior academic and other staff 
and representatives of the students of the 
institution. Its role is to promote, direct and 
regulate the teaching and research work of the 
University and is chaired by the Vice-Chancellor. 

Committees

Although Council meets at least six times each 
academic year, much of its detailed work is 
delegated to committees, in particular the Finance 
and General Purposes Committee, the 
Nominations Committee, the Remuneration 
Committee and the Audit Committee. The 
decisions and recommendations of these 
committees are formally reported to Council. 

These committees, and in some cases others, are 
formally constituted as committees of Council with 
written terms of reference and specified 
membership, including a significant proportion of 
lay members (from whom the chairman will be 
selected). 

The Finance and General Purposes Committee 
advises the Council on the financial position of the 
University and recommends to Council the 
University’s annual financial statements, budgets 
and financial forecasts.

The Nominations Committee is responsible for 
making recommendations to Council on the 
appointment of the Chairman and Vice-Chairman 
of Council and the appointment and re-
appointment of all appointed members of Council, 
and for making recommendations to Senate and 
Council for the membership of all their 
committees. 

The Remuneration Committee determines the 
annual remuneration of professorial and other 
senior staff and approves any arrangements 
made with senior individuals in connection with 
the cessation of their employment with the 
University. 
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Structure of Corporate Governance, Responsibilities of Council in preparation of the 
Financial Statements and System of Internal Control - continued

Structure of Corporate Governance - 
continued 

The Audit Committee assesses the institution’s 
risk management, control and governance 
arrangements and advises Council on the 
arrangements to promote economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness.  It also ensures that arrangements 
for the management and quality assurance of 
data submitted to the Higher Education Statistics 
Agency are adequate. The Committee meets at 
least annually with the external auditors to 
consider audit findings and with the Head of the 
Business Assurance Service to approve the 
Service’s detailed assurance reports and 
suggestions for the improvement of the 
University’s system of internal control, together 
with management’s responses and 
implementation plans. Whilst senior University 
staff attend meetings of the Audit Committee as 
necessary, they are not members of the 
Committee, and the Committee meets with the 
external auditors and the Head of the Business 
Assurance Service in the absence of University 
staff for in camera discussions. 
 
A system of Council and Senate sub-committees, 
ultimately responsible to Council and established 
by Standing Orders, is used to develop academic 
policy, including that for research, and to monitor 
the performance and further the development of 
the academic activities. 

A formal University Executive Committee, a sub-
committee of Senate and Council, is chaired by 
the Vice-Chancellor. The other members are the 
Pro-Vice Chancellors, the Deputy Warden, the 
Registrar, the Treasurer, the Director of Human 
Resources and the Director of Strategic Planning 
and Change. The purpose of the University 
Executive Committee is to manage the 
University’s strategy and steer its business; 
monitor the achievement of the University’s 
objectives; consider and make recommendations 
to Senate and Council on important policy 
initiatives; to take ownership and management of 
key risks; and to co-ordinate planning and 
recommend the annual budget and financial 
forecasts to Finance and General Purposes 
Committee and Council. 
 
Officers 
 
The principal academic and administrative officer 
of the University is the Vice-Chancellor, who has  
 

general responsibility to Council and Senate for 
maintaining and promoting the efficiency and 
good order of the University. Under the terms of 
the formal financial memorandum between the 
University and the Higher Education Funding 
Council for England (HEFCE), the Vice-
Chancellor is the accountable officer of the 
University and in that capacity can be summoned 
to appear before the Public Accounts Committee 
of the House of Commons. 
 
As chief executive of the University, the Vice-
Chancellor exercises considerable influence upon 
the development of institutional strategy, the 
identification and planning of new developments, 
and shaping of the institutional ethos. The other 
members of the University Executive Committee 
and senior managers all contribute in various 
ways to these aspects of the work, but the 
ultimate responsibility for what is done rests with 
Council. 
 
The statutes of the University specify that the 
Registrar is Secretary of the Council and Senate. 
Any enquiries about the constitution and 
governance of the University should be addressed 
to the Registrar. The statutes also specify that the 
Treasurer is responsible, under the supervision of 
the Vice-Chancellor, for the financial business of 
the University.  

The University maintains a register of interests of 
members of Council and senior officers which 
may be consulted by arrangement with the 
Registrar. A register of gifts and hospitality 
received by members of Council and University 
staff is also maintained. 

Code of practice 

Council has adopted the CUC Governance Code 
of Practice. In accordance with the Code, the 
Council has adopted a Statement of Primary 
Responsibilities which is based on the Code’s 
model and adapted to reflect the powers and 
responsibilities derived from University Statutes.  
A copy of this statement is available at 
http://www.dur.ac.uk/committees/council/responsi
bilities

Review of Council effectiveness

In accordance with the Code, Council undertook a 
review of its effectiveness during 2010. A report of 
this review and its results is published on the 
University’s website. 
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Structure of Corporate Governance, Responsibilities of Council in preparation of the 
Financial Statements and System of Internal Control - continued

Responsibilities of Council in the preparation 
of the Financial Statements 

In accordance with the University’s Statutes, the 
Council is responsible for the administration and 
management of the affairs of the University and is 
required to present audited financial statements 
for each financial year. 

Council is responsible for ensuring that proper 
accounting records are kept which disclose with 
reasonable accuracy, at any time, the financial 
position of the University and which enable it to 
ensure that the financial statements are prepared 
in accordance with the University’s statutes, the 
Statement of Recommended Practice: Accounting 
for Further and Higher Education and other 
relevant accounting standards. In addition, within 
the terms and conditions of the Financial 
Memorandum agreed between the HEFCE and 
the University and the Funding Agreement agreed 
between the Training and Development Agency 
and the University, Council through its designated 
office holder, the Vice-Chancellor, is required to 
prepare financial statements for each financial 
year which give a true and fair view of the 
University’s state of affairs and of the surplus or 
deficit and cash flows for that year. 

In causing the financial statements to be prepared 
and in accordance with the exercise of its powers 
under the statutes, Council is responsible for 
ensuring that: 

•  suitable accounting policies are selected and 
applied consistently; 

•  judgements and estimates which are made are 
reasonable and prudent; 

•  applicable accounting standards have been 
followed, subject to any material departures 
disclosed and explained in the financial 
statements; and 

• it is satisfied that the University has adequate 
resources to continue in operation for the 
foreseeable future: for this reason the going 
concern basis continues to be adopted in the 
preparation of the financial statements. 

Council has taken reasonable steps to: 

•  ensure that funds from the HEFCE are used 
only for the purposes for which they have been 
given and in accordance with the Financial 
Memorandum and any other conditions which 
the HEFCE may from time to time prescribe; 

•  ensure that funds from the Training and 
Development Agency are used only for the 
purposes for which they have been given and in 
accordance with the agreement between the 
Teacher Training Agency and the University 
and any other conditions, which the Teacher 
Training Agency may from time to time impose;

•  ensure that there are appropriate financial and 
management controls in place to safeguard 
public funds and funds from other sources; 

•  safeguard the assets of the University and to 
prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities; 
and 

•  secure the economical, efficient and effective 
management of the University’s resources and 
expenditure.

System of Internal Control 

The system of internal control is designed to 
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to 
achieve policies, aims and objectives; it can 
therefore only provide reasonable and not 
absolute assurance of effectiveness. 

The system of internal control is based on an 
ongoing process designed to identify the risks to 
the achievement of policies, aims and objectives, 
to evaluate the nature and extent of those risks 
and to manage them efficiently, effectively and 
economically.  This process has been in place 
throughout the year ended 31 July 2010 and up to 
the date of approval of the financial statements, 
and accords with HEFCE guidance and the 
principles set out in Section 1 of the Combined 
Code on Corporate Governance issued by the 
Financial Reporting Council in June 2008. 

As the governing body, Council has responsibility 
for reviewing the effectiveness of the system of 
internal control. The key elements of this system 
include the following: 
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System of Internal Control – continued 

 Clear definitions of the responsibilities of, and 
the authority delegated to, individual managers. 

 A comprehensive medium and short-term 
planning process, supplemented by detailed 
annual income, expenditure, capital and cash 
flow budgets. Council regularly reviews the 
plans and strategic direction of the University. 
Risk is explicitly addressed in Department and 
Faculty plans.   

 Regular reviews of key performance indicators 
and business risks and quarterly reviews of 
financial results involving variance reporting and 
updates of forecast outturns. 

 Clearly defined and formalised requirements for 
approval and control of expenditure, with 
investment decisions involving capital or 
revenue expenditure being subject to formal 
detailed appraisal and review according to 
approved levels set by Council. 

 Comprehensive Financial Regulations, detailing 
financial controls and procedures, approved by 
the Finance and General Purposes Committee 
and received by Audit Committee.  

 The University Executive Committee oversees 
the operation of risk management systems and 
the maintenance of the Risk Management 
Strategy.

 Strategic and operational risk registers 
identifying the key risks facing the University, 
following a process of categorisation and 
assessment of likelihood and impact. 

 All identified risks are the responsibility of a risk 
owner, (all of whom are members of the 
University Executive Committee), who has 
responsibility for overseeing the risk and 
ensuring risk management plans have been 
adequately developed to manage the risk 
satisfactorily. All risks have been categorised in 
terms of likelihood and impact. Identified risk 
managers report to risk owners. 

 The University Executive Committee reports to 
Council on matters concerning risk 
management and internal control. Risk owners 
are responsible for alerting the Executive 
Committee of significant matters associated 
with business risk. 

 A programme of facilitated workshops is held to 
identify and keep up to date the record of risks 
facing the University. 

 A programme of risk awareness training is in 
place.

Council’s review of the effectiveness of the 
system of internal control is informed by the 
Business Assurance Service, which operates to 
international auditing standards defined in the 
Definition of Internal Auditing Code of Ethics 
International Standards for the Professional 
Practice of Internal Auditing (January 2009) 
published by the Institute of Internal Auditors. Use 
of these standards is prescribed by the HEFCE in 
the Accountability and Audit Code of Practice 
(Annex B of the financial memorandum between 
HEFCE and institutions). The Business 
Assurance Service is periodically reviewed for 
effectiveness by the HEFCE Assurance Service. 
The Business Assurance Service undertakes a 
planned programme of assurance reviews as part 
of a risk-based strategic and annual assurance 
plan and reports its findings to the University’s 
management and Audit Committee. These are 
summarised in an annual report which includes 
the Head of the Business Assurance Service’s 
independent opinion on the adequacy and 
effectiveness of the institution’s arrangements for 
the provision of adequate internal control, 
corporate governance, risk management and the 
achievement of value for money with suggestions 
for improvements. In line with HEFCE’s current 
requirements this opinion will also consider the 
adequacy and effectiveness of arrangements for 
the management and quality assurance of data 
submitted to the Higher Education Statistics 
Agency by the University. 
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System of Internal Control – continued 

From an assessment of the performance of the 
Business Assurance Service by the Audit 
Committee, informed by the views of the Vice 
Chancellor (to whom it reports), and the results of 
the independent peer-reviewed quality assurance 
assessment undertaken during May 2010, it is 
considered that  these arrangements were 
effective for the year ended 31 July 2010.  

Our review of the effectiveness of the system of 
internal control is also informed by the work of the  
executive managers within the institution, who 
have the responsibility for the development and 
maintenance of the internal control framework, 
and by comments made by the external auditors 
in their management letter and other reports. 

Signed on behalf of the University of Durham on 
23 November 2010

A Galbraith 
Chairman of Council 
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Independent auditors’ report to the Council of Durham University  

We have audited the Consolidated and University 
financial statements (the ‘‘financial statements’’) 
of Durham University for the year ended 31 July 
2010 which comprise the Consolidated Income 
and Expenditure Account, the Statement of 
Consolidated Total Recognised Gains and 
Losses, the Consolidated and University Balance 
Sheets, the Consolidated Cash Flow Statement, 
and the related notes.  These financial statements 
have been prepared under the historical cost 
convention (as modified by the revaluation of 
certain fixed assets) and in accordance with the 
accounting policies set out therein.  

This report is made solely to the University 
Council, in accordance with the Charter and 
Statutes of the University. Our audit work has 
been undertaken so that we might state to the 
University Council those matters we are required 
to state to it in an auditor’s report and for no other 
purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, 
we do not accept or assume responsibility to 
anyone other than the University Council, for our 
audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we 
have formed. 

Respective Responsibilities of the University 
Council and Auditors 

The University Council’s responsibilities for 
preparing the Operating and Financial Review 
and the financial statements in accordance with 
the Accounts Direction issued by the Higher 
Education Funding Council for England, the 
Statement of Recommended Practice: Accounting 
for Further and Higher Education, applicable law 
and UK Accounting Standards (UK Generally 
Accepted Accounting Practice) are set out in the 
Statement of Responsibilities on page 24.   

Our responsibility is to audit the financial 
statements in accordance with relevant legal and 
regulatory requirements and International 
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland).   

We report to you our opinion as to whether the 
financial statements give a true and fair view and 
are properly prepared in accordance with the 
Statement of Recommended Practice: Accounting 
for Further and Higher Education.  We also report 
to you whether income from funding bodies, 
grants and income for specific purposes and from 
other restricted funds administered by the 
University have been properly applied only for the 
purposes for which they were received and 
whether, in all material respects, income has been 

applied in accordance with the Statutes and, 
where appropriate, with the Financial 
Memorandum with the Higher Education Funding 
Council for England and the Financial 
Memorandum with the Training and Development 
Agency for Schools. We also report to you 
whether in our opinion the Operating and 
Financial Review is not consistent with the 
financial statements. 

In addition we report to you if, in our opinion, the 
University has not kept proper accounting 
records, or if we have not received all the 
information and explanations we require for our 
audit.

We read the Operating and Financial Review and 
other information contained in the Annual Report 
and the Corporate Governance Statement and 
consider the implications for our report if we 
become aware of any apparent misstatements 
within them or material inconsistencies with the 
financial statements.  

Basis of Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with 
International Standards on Auditing (UK and 
Ireland) issued by the Auditing Practices Board 
and the Audit Code of Practice issued by the 
Higher Education Funding Council for England.  
An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of 
evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial statements. It also includes an 
assessment of the significant estimates and 
judgments made by the University’s Council in the 
preparation of the financial statements and of 
whether the accounting policies are appropriate to 
the Group and University’s circumstances, 
consistently applied and adequately disclosed. 

We planned and performed our audit so as to 
obtain all the information and explanations which 
we considered necessary in order to provide us 
with sufficient evidence to give reasonable 
assurance that the financial statements are free 
from material misstatement, whether caused by 
fraud or other irregularity or error.  In forming our 
opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of 
the presentation of information in the financial 
statements.   
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Independent auditors’ report to the Council of Durham University - continued

Opinion

In our opinion: 

 the financial statements give a true and 
fair view, in accordance with UK 
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice, 
of the state of the Group and the 
University’s affairs as at 31 July 2010 and 
of the Consolidated surplus of  income 
over expenditure for the year then ended; 

 the financial statements have been 
properly prepared in accordance with the 
Statement of Recommended Practice: 
Accounting for Further and Higher 
Education; 

 in all material respects, income from the 
Higher Education Funding Council for 
England and the Training and 
Development Agency for Schools, grants 
and income for specific purposes and 
from other restricted funds administered 
by the University during the year ended 
31 July 2010 have been applied for the 
purposes for which they were received; 
and 

 in all material respects, income during the 
year ended 31 July 2010 has been 
applied in accordance with the 
University’s Statutes and, where 
appropriate, with the Financial 
Memorandum with the Higher Education 
Funding Council for England and the 
Financial Memorandum with the Training 
and Development Agency for Schools. 

MR Thompson (Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of KPMG Audit Plc, 
Statutory Auditor  

.

Chartered Accountants 
Quayside House 
110 Quayside 
Newcastle up on Tyne 
NE1 3DX 

24 November 2010
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Statement of Principal Accounting Policies 

1. Basis of Preparation 
The financial statements have been prepared 
under the historical cost convention, as modified 
by the revaluation of endowment asset 
investments and certain land and buildings for 
which a cost is not readily ascertainable, and in 
accordance with both the Statement of 
Recommended Practice (SORP): Accounting in 
Further and Higher Education 2007 and 
applicable accounting standards. 

2. Basis of Consolidation 
The financial statements consolidate the financial 
statements of the University and its subsidiary 
undertakings for the financial year to 31 July. 

The consolidated financial statements do not 
include those of the University of Durham’s 
student bodies as they are separate entities in 
which the University has no significant control or 
influence over policy decisions. 

The University has investment shareholdings in 
unquoted companies over which it has no 
significant influence on policy or strategy 
decisions. These companies are not consolidated 
but are accounted for as investments at the lower 
of cost or net realisable value. 

3. Recognition of Income 
The recurrent grant from the Higher Education 
Funding Council for England (HEFCE) represents 
the funding allocation attributable to the current 
financial year and is credited direct to the income 
and expenditure account.  

Income from specific grants from HEFCE, 
research grants, contracts and other services 
rendered is recognised to the extent that 
expenditure incurred in these areas during the 
year is funded by such income. Income received 
in excess of expenditure is held as a deferred 
creditor; expenditure in excess of related income 
is charged during the year in which it is incurred. 

Fee income is stated gross, any bursaries being 
accounted for as expenditure and not deductions 
from income. 

Donations with restrictions are recognised when 
relevant conditions have been met. Donations to 
be retained for the benefit of the University are 
recognised in the statement of total recognised 
gains and losses as endowments; other donations  

are included in other income in the income and 
expenditure account.  

Grants or donations in respect of fixed assets 
(whether as money or assets) are treated as 
deferred capital grants, the treatment of which is 
set out in item 7 below. 

All income from the investment of non-endowment 
funds, including short-term deposits, and from 
restricted endowment investments is credited to 
the income and expenditure account on a 
receivable basis. 

Funds for which the University acts only as paying 
agent, namely Access Funds, Training and 
Development Agency for Schools Bursaries and 
Engineering and Physical Sciences Research 
Council doctoral training grants, are excluded 
from the income and expenditure account. 

4. Pension Schemes 
The University participates in the Universities 
Superannuation Scheme (USS) and in the 
University of Durham Retirement Benefits Plan 
(RBP), both of which are defined benefit 
schemes, externally funded and contracted out of 
the State Second Pension (S2P). The assets of 
the schemes are held in separate trustee-
administered funds.  

The funds are valued every three years by 
professionally qualified independent actuaries 
using the projected unit method, the rates of 
contribution payable being determined by the 
trustees on the advice of the actuaries. In the 
intervening years, the actuaries review the 
progress of the schemes.  

The University accounts for the costs, assets and 
liabilities of RBP in accordance with FRS17 
“Retirement Benefits”. Because of the mutual 
nature of USS, the University is unable to identify 
its share of the scheme’s assets and liabilities on 
a consistent and reasonable basis and therefore 
accounts for this scheme as if it were a defined 
contribution scheme, as required by FRS17 
“Retirement Benefits”. As a result, the amount 
charged to the income and expenditure account 
represents the contributions payable to the 
scheme in respect of the accounting period. 
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Statement of Principal Accounting Policies – continued 

5. Foreign Currencies 
Transactions denominated in foreign currencies 
are recorded at the rate of exchange ruling at the 
dates of the transactions.  Monetary assets and 
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are 
translated into sterling either at the rates at the 
date of the balance sheet or, where there are 
related forward exchange contracts, at contract 
rates.  The resulting exchange differences are 
dealt with in the determination of income and 
expenditure for the financial year. 

6. Leases 
Rental costs under operating leases are charged 
to expenditure in equal annual amounts over the 
periods of the leases. 

7. Tangible Fixed Assets 
a) Capitalisation 
Tangible assets are capitalised where they are 
capable of being used for a period which exceeds 
one year and which: 
 Individually have a cost equal to or greater than 
£10,000; or 

 Collectively have a cost equal to or greater than 
£10,000 where the assets are functionally 
interdependent or are purchased together and 
intended to be used as a group under common 
management control; or 

 Irrespective of their individual cost, form part of 
the initial equipping of a new building. 

Expenditure on a tangible asset after its initial 
purchase is capitalised where it increases the 
expected future benefits to the University from 
that asset beyond its previous standard of 
performance, the cost of such enhancement being 
added to the gross cost of the relevant asset. 

b) Valuation 
Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost or, in the 
case of buildings for which the cost cannot readily 
be ascertained, at valuation.  

The transitional rules set out in FRS 15 Tangible 
Fixed Assets have been applied and the book 
values of assets at implementation have been 
retained.

A review for impairment of a fixed asset is carried 
out if events or changes in circumstances indicate 
that the carrying amount of the fixed asset may 
not be recoverable. 

c) Depreciation 
Land is not depreciated. Other tangible assets are 
depreciated on a straight line basis over their 
useful life as follows: 

Buildings                          50 years or the life of 
the building if shorter 

Motor vehicles and 
computer equipment 
and software                    

4 years 

General and scientific 
equipment and furniture   

8 years 

Equipment acquired for 
specific research 
projects         

project life (generally 3 
years)

No depreciation is charged on assets in the 
course of construction. 

d) Capital grants 
Where assets are donated or acquired with the 
aid of specific grants or donations they are 
capitalised and depreciated as above.  The 
related grants and donations are treated as 
deferred capital grants and released to income 
over the expected useful life of the asset (or the 
period of the grant in respect of specific research 
projects). 

e) Heritage assets 
Heritage assets costing or valued at over £10,000 
and acquired since 1 August 2007 are capitalised 
at cost or value on acquisition, where such a 
valuation is reasonably obtainable. Such assets 
are not depreciated.  

Other heritage assets are not capitalised.  

8. Investments 
Investments in subsidiary companies are stated at 
the original cost of the investment and reviewed 
for impairment where appropriate. 

Endowment investments and properties are 
included in the balance sheet at market value. 
Endowment properties are subject to 5-yearly 
revaluations. Current asset investments are 
included in the balance sheet at the lower of cost 
and net realisable value.   

Term deposits held as part of the University’s 
treasury management activity are treated as 
investments.   
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Statement of Principal Accounting Policies - continued 

9. Stocks 
Stocks are stated at the lower of cost and net 
realisable value. 

10. Cash and Liquid Resources 
Cash flows comprise increases or decreases in 
cash.  Cash includes cash in hand, deposits 
repayable on demand and overdrafts.  Deposits 
are repayable on demand if they are available 
within 24 hours without penalty.  Liquid resources 
comprise assets held as a readily disposable 
store of value.  They exclude any such assets 
held as endowment asset investments. 

11. Financial Instruments 
Costs of financial instruments used to hedge 
interest rate risk are accounted for as they fall due 
to be paid. 

12. Provisions 
Provisions are made where the University has a 
present financial obligation as a result of a past 
event and it is probable that a cost will arise on 
settlement of the obligation and a reliable 
estimate can be made of its value. 

13. Taxation 
The University is an exempt charity within the 
meaning of Schedule 2 of the Charities Act 1993 
and as such is a charity within the meaning of 
Section 506(1) of the Income and Corporation 
Taxes Act  (ICTA) 1988.  Accordingly, the 
University is potentially exempt from taxation in 
respect of income or capital gains received within 
categories covered by Section 505 of ICTA 1988 
and Section 256 of the Taxation of Chargeable 
Gains Act 1992 to the extent that such income or 
gains are applied to exclusively charitable 
purposes.   

The University receives no similar exemption in 
respect of Value Added Tax. Irrecoverable VAT on 
inputs is included in the cost of such inputs, 
including tangible fixed assets.  

The charge for taxation is based on the result for 
the year and takes into account taxation deferred 
because of timing differences between the 

treatment of certain items for taxation and 
accounting purposes. A deferred tax liability is 
provided for if transactions or events giving rise to 
an obligation to pay more tax in the future, or less 
tax in the future, have occurred by the balance 
sheet date. Deferred tax assets are recognised to 
the extent that they are considered recoverable in 
the future. 

14. Joint venture 
The University’s share of income and expenditure 
in joint venture entities is reported in the 
consolidated income and expenditure account 
and its share of assets and liabilities of joint 
venture entities is recognised in the consolidated 
balance sheet using the gross equity method in 
accordance with FRS 9 – Associates and Joint 
Ventures. 

15. Endowment funds 
Where charitable donations are to be retained for 
the benefit of the institution as specified by the 
donors, these are accounted for as endowments. 
There are three main types: 

Unrestricted permanent endowments  
 where the donor has specified that the fund is 

to be permanently invested to generate an 
income stream for the general benefit of the 
institution; 
Restricted permanent endowments

 where the donor has specified that the fund is 
to be permanently invested to generate an 
income stream to be applied to a particular 
objective; 
Restricted expendable endowments 

 where the donor has specified a particular 
objective, other than the purchase or 
construction of tangible fixed assets, and the 
institution can convert the donated sum into 
income. 

Gifts in kind are included in other income or 
deferred capital grants as appropriate using a 
reasonable estimate of their gross value or the 
amount actually realised. 
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Consolidated Income and Expenditure Account 
for the year ended 31 July 2010 

Note 2009/10 2008/09

£'000 £'000
Income
Funding council grants 1 79,060 77,016
Tuition fees and education contracts 2 71,443 63,115
Research grants and contracts 3 48,273 45,084
Other income 4 48,710 47,194
Endowment and investment Income 5 1,441 1,884

Total income 248,927 234,293

Less share of income from joint venture 14 (7) (45)

Net income 248,920 234,248

Expenditure
Staff costs 6 142,688 129,031
Other operating expenses 8 82,785 77,024
Depreciation 12 12,162 11,450
Interest and other finance costs 9 4,316 4,345

Total expenditure 241,951 221,850

Surplus after depreciation of tangible fixed assets
at valuation and before tax 6,969 12,398

Taxation 10 148 1               

Surplus on continuing operations after depreciation of 
assets at valuation, disposal of assets and tax 7,117 12,399

Deficit transferred to endowment funds 25 1,099 321

Surplus for the year retained within 
general reserves 11 8,216 12,720

All items of income and expenditure arise from continuing operations
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Statement of Consolidated Total Recognised Gains and Losses 
for the year ended 31 July 2010 

Note 2009/10 2008/09
£'000 £'000

Surplus for the year 7,117 12,399

Transfer to deferred capital grant 25 -              (185)

New endowments 25 2,174 2,807

Appreciation /(Diminution) of endowment asset investments 25 4,080 (6,743)

Actuarial loss in respect of RBP Pension Scheme 30 (295) (10,337)

Total recognised gains/(losses) relating to the year 13,076 (2,059)

Reconciliation

Opening reserves and endowments 123,380 125,439

Total recognised gains and losses for the year 13,076 (2,059)

Closing reserves and endowments 136,456 123,380
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Balance Sheets as at 31 July 2010

Note

31 July 31 July 31 July 31 July
2010 2009 2010 2009

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Fixed assets

      Tangible assets 12 246,489 237,812 246,837 235,384
       Investments    13 114 299 12,888 13,073
       Investment in joint venture
           Share of gross assets 14 422 622        -              -           
           Share of gross liabilities 14 (422) (622) -              -           

246,603 238,111 259,725 248,457

Endowment assets 15 57,848 52,693 57,848 52,693

Current assets
      Stock 16 299 251 279 231
      Debtors 17 21,927 23,556 22,773 28,055
      Investments 18 36,539 33,650 36,539 33,650
      Cash at bank and in hand 19 26,206 14,912 25,056 13,719

84,971 72,369 84,647 75,655

Creditors: amounts falling due
within one year 20 (63,378) (54,793) (68,729) (60,587)

Net current assets 21,593 17,576 15,918 15,068

Total assets less current liabilities 326,044 308,380 333,491 316,218

Less: creditors amounts falling due 
after more than one year 21 (78,886) (80,571) (78,886) (80,571)

Less: provisions for liabilities 23 (5,213) (1,429) (4,471) (565)

Total net assets excluding pension 
liability 241,945 226,380 250,134 235,082

Net pension liability 30 (10,734) (10,321) (10,734) (10,321)

Net assets including pension 
liability 231,211 216,059 239,400 224,761

Consolidated University
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Balance Sheets as at 31 July 2010 - continued

Note

31 July 31 July 31 July 31 July
2010 2009 2010 2009

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Deferred capital grants 24 94,755 92,679 102,305 100,527

Endowments
Expendable 25 11,339 10,104 11,339 10,104
Permanent 25 46,509 42,589 46,509 42,589

57,848 52,693 57,848 52,693

Reserves
Income and expenditure account 
 excluding pension reserve 26 89,342 81,008 89,981 81,862

Pension reserve 26 (10,734) (10,321) (10,734) (10,321)

Income and expenditure account 
 including pension reserve 78,608 70,687 79,247 71,541

Total funds 231,211 216,059 239,400 224,761

Consolidated University

The Financial Statements on pages 29 to 66 were approved by the Council on 23 November 2010 
and signed on its behalf by:

A Galbraith 
Chairman of Council 

C Higgins 
Vice Chancellor 

P Lubacz 
Treasurer
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
for the year ended 31 July 2010 

Note 2009/10  2008/09
£'000 £'000

Net cash inflow from operating activities 27 27,210 16,753

Returns on investment and servicing of finance

   Income from endowments 742 939
   Income from short term investments & other interest received 699 945
   Interest paid (3,835) (4,336)

Net cash outflow from returns on investments (2,394) (2,452)
and servicing of finance

Capital expenditure and financial investment

   Tangible assets acquired (24,709) (19,544)
   Fixed asset investment disposal 185 -           
   Endowment assets acquired (1,000) (1,700)

(25,524) (21,244)

   Receipts from sales of endowment assets 142 142
   Proceeds from sales of fixed assets 24 10
   Deferred capital grants received 13,953 14,935
   Endowments received 25 2,174 2,807

Net cash outflow from capital expenditure (9,231) (3,350)
and financial investment

Cash inflow before use of liquid resources 15,585 10,951
and financing

Management of liquid resources 29 (2,889) (296)

Financing
   New loans / investments 1,000 1,700
   Capital repayments (2,185) (2,185)

Increase in cash in the year 29 11,511 10,170



DURHAM UNIVERSITY     Financial Statements    31 July 2010 

37

Reconciliation of Net Cash Flow to Movement in Net Debt 

2009/10 2008/09
Note £'000 £'000

Increase in cash for the year 29 11,511 10,170

Change in short term deposits 29 2,889 296

Repayment of debt 29 2,185 2,185

Increase in loan financing 29 (1,000) (1,700)

Change in net debt 29 15,585 10,951

Net debt at 1 August 29 (26,208) (37,159)

Net debt at 31 July 29 (10,623) (26,208)
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Notes to the Financial Statements 

1   Funding council grants 2009/10 2008/09
£'000 £'000

         HEFCE 
             Recurrent grant 69,219 65,854
             Specific grants 2,813 4,590

             Deferred capital grant released in year (Note 24)
                  Buildings    1,219 1,203
                  Equipment  2,850 2,530

    Total HEFCE Grants 76,101 74,177

         TDA 
            Recurrent grant 2,760 2,739
            Specific grants 199 100

    Total TDA Grants 2,959 2,839

79,060 77,016

2  Tuition fees and education contracts
2009/10 2008/09

£000 £'000

    Full-time home and EU students 38,372 34,660
    Full-time international students 24,711 20,798
    Part-time students 3,656 3,306
    Short courses 3,045 2,852
    Research training support grants 1,088 982
    Other fees 571 517

71,443 63,115

3  Research grants and contracts 
2009/10 2008/09

£000 £000

      Research councils 23,571 22,852
      Central /Local Government 12,846 11,171
      UK industries 2,647 2,866
      EU Government 2,269 1,586
      UK charities 3,069 2,631
      Other overseas 1,640 1,930
      Other sources 393 271

      Released from deferred capital grants (Note 24) 1,838 1,777

48,273 45,084
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Notes to the Financial Statements - continued 

4  Other income 2009/10 2008/09
£'000 £000

        Residences, catering and conferences 33,652 29,909
        Other services rendered 5,802 7,306
        Other income 7,595 8,541
        Donations 803 595
        Income from joint venture 7 45
        Released from deferred capital grants (Note 24) 851 798

48,710 47,194

5  Endowment and investment income 2009/10 2008/09
£'000 £000

        Income from expendable endowments 8 151
        Income from permanent endowments 734 788
        Income from short term investments 593 1,115
        Net gain/(loss) on sale of general investments 106 (252)
        Net return on pension scheme -          82

1,441 1,884

6   Staff 2009/10 2008/09
Number Number

         Full time equivalent staff numbers by type:

         Academic 1,378 1,346
         Professional and technical 787 741
         Administrative and clerical 686 663
         Facilities and other support 609 585

3,460 3,335
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Notes to the Financial Statements – continued 

6   Staff costs 2009/10 2008/09
£'000 £000

               Staff costs:
               Salaries 119,952 108,759
               Social security costs 8,444 8,112

               Other pension costs 
                  USS  (See note 30(a)) 12,464 10,572
                  RBP  (See note (30(b)) 1,760 1,544
                  NHS  (See note 30(c)) 68 44

               Total 142,688 129,031

£'000 £000
        Staff costs analysed by activity
                Academic departments 66,597 62,866
                Academic services 9,249 8,546
                General educational expenditure 2,968 2,613
                Premises 4,827 5,256
                Administration and central services 10,689 9,383
                Student and staff facilities and amenities 8,243 7,998
                Residences, catering and conferences 11,509 10,030
                Miscellaneous expenditure 5,786 255
                Research grants and contracts 19,908 19,314
                Other services rendered 2,912 2,770

142,688 129,031

7 Emoluments of the Vice-Chancellor 2009/10 2008/09
£'000 £000

      Emoluments of the Vice-Chancellor
               Salary 211 208     
               Pension contribution to USS  33 29      

244 237     

         The emoluments of the Vice-Chancellor are shown on the same basis as for higher paid staff
         The University's contributions to USS are paid at the same rate as for other academic staff.
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Notes to the Financial Statements – continued 

7  Emoluments of other higher paid staff 2009/10 2008/09
No. No.

          Remuneration of other higher paid staff, 
          excluding employer's pension contributions

          £100,000 -  £109,999 12 3
          £110,000 -  £119,999 1 1
          £120,000 -  £129,999 2 1
          £130,000 -  £139,999 2 3
          £140,000 -  £149,999 1 -          
          £150,000 -  £159,999 2 -          
          £160,000 -  £169,999 1 1

21 9

8    Other operating expenses analysed by activity 2009/10 2008/09
£'000  £000

          Academic departments 10,368 8,733
          Academic services 10,453 9,513
          General educational expenditure 10,713 9,761
          Premises 11,597 10,074
          Administration and central services 3,156 2,815
          Student and staff facilities and amenities 5,091 4,597
          Residences, catering and conferences 12,386 12,593
          Pensions 38 36
          Miscellaneous expenditure 1,961 2,564
          Research grants and contracts 14,348 13,314
          Other services rendered 2,674 3,024

82,785 77,024

Other operating expenses include:
         Auditors' remuneration (including £15,652 for subsidiary 61 55
         companies; 2008/09 : £15,150)

Trustees are not remunerated for their work, but are reimbursed for reasonable expenses.  A total amount 
of £12,913 was paid out for travel, accommodation and subsistence for 9 of the trustees in the year 2009/10.  



DURHAM UNIVERSITY     Financial Statements    31 July 2010 

42

Notes to the Financial Statements – continued

9   Interest payable 2009/10 2008/09
 £000  £000

        On bank and other loans:
        repayable wholly or partly in more than five years 3,843 4,345

        Pension finance costs 473 -        

4,316 4,345

10   Taxation 

A provision has been made for the future cost of capital goods scheme items (see note 23).  The sum reflects 
future amounts that will have to be repaid to HM Revenue and Customs where partial exemption recovery 
rates have reduced from when the item was put into use.    

Council does not believe that the University or its subsidiaries and associates were liable for any corporation 
tax arising out of their activities during the year.  Such profits as are made by the subsidiary companies are 
transferred under gift aid arrangements to the University and consequently no corporation tax is due. 

Deferred tax is provided in subsidiary companies to the extent that originating timing differences give rise to a 
potential future tax liability in a subsidiary entity.  At 31st July 2010 the liability was £nil. 

2009/10 2008/09
£'000  £000

Current tax

   UK corporation tax on profits for the period -              -           

Deferred tax

   Origination and reversal of timing differences 148 1              

11  Surplus for the year 2009/10 2008/09

£'000  £000

   University surplus for the year 8,001 12,347
   Net surplus generated by subsidiary companies 215 373

8,216 12,720

    Any surplus generated by a subsidiary company is transferred to the University under gift aid.
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Notes to the Financial Statements – continued 

12   Tangible assets

Freehold Assets in the Heritage 
Land and Course of Assets
Buildings Equipment Construction Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Valuation / cost
At 1 August 2009
    Valuation 8,084 -           -                -             8,084
    Cost 256,076 73,547 5,601 21 335,245

Additions -              -           21,898 -             21,898
Capitalisation 7,106 6,309 (13,415) -             -            
Disposals (2,483) (385) -                -             (2,868)

At 31 July 2010
     Valuation 8,084 -           -                -             8,084
     Cost 260,699 79,471 14,084 21 354,275

Depreciation
At 1 August 2009 55,508 50,009 -                -             105,517
Charge for year 5,720  6,442 -                -             12,162
Disposals (1,437) (372) -                -             (1,809)

At 31 July 2010 59,791 56,079 -                -             115,870

Net Book Value
At 31 July 2010 208,992 23,392 14,084 21 246,489

At 1 August 2009 208,652 23,538 5,601 21          237,812

Financed by capital grant 70,251 16,327 8,166 11 94,755
Other 138,741 7,065 5,918 10 151,734

Net book value at 31 July 2010 208,992 23,392 14,084 21 246,489

Consolidated

The transitional rules set out in FRS 15 Tangible Fixed Assets were applied on implementing FRS 15 and the book 
values at implementation were retained. The University's tangible assets are stated at cost, with the exception of 
land and buildings at the Stockton campus which were donated and were valued on receipt. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements – continued 

12   Tangible assets - continued

Freehold Assets in the Heritage
Land and Course of Assets
Buildings Equipment Construction Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Valuation / cost
At 1 August 2009
    Valuation 8,084 -           -               -          8,084
    Cost 251,952 73,360 5,601 21        330,934

Additions -              -           24,537 24,537
Capitalisation 9,751 6,304 (16,055) -          -           
Disposals (2,460) (318) -               -          (2,778)

At 31 July 2010
     Valuation 8,084 -           -               -          8,084
     Cost 259,243 79,346 14,083 21 352,693

Depreciation
At 1 August 2009 53,800 49,833 -               -          103,633
Charge for year 5,591  6,435 -               -          12,026
Disposals (1,414) (305) -               -          (1,719)

At 31 July 2010 57,977 55,963 -               -          113,940

Net Book Value
At 31 July 2010 209,350 23,383 14,083 21 246,837

At 1 August 2009 206,236 23,527 5,601 21        235,385

Financed by capital grant 78,099 16,327 8,166 11 102,603
Other 131,251 7,056 5,917 10 144,234

Net book value at 31 July 2010 209,350 23,383 14,083 21 246,837

University

The opening and closing balances include £7.8m and £7.5m respectively in respect of a research building 
owned by a charitable subsidiary company, Library Services (Durham) Limited, of which the University has 
free use.  This is also included in the University’s deferred capital grants.  (See note 24).    
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Notes to the Financial Statements – continued

12 Tangible assets - continued 

Heritage Assets 

Only heritage assets with an initial cost or value over £10,000 and acquired after 1 August 2007 are 
capitalised. Durham University holds other heritage assets in its Libraries and Museums, information about 
which may be found at : www.durham.ac.uk/library/asc . Included in these collections are materials in many 
formats such as paper and parchment manuscripts, printed books, photographs, maps, prints, moving 
images, museum artefacts etc. The following is a brief description of the extent and nature of items held. 

Museums

Museum of Archaeology

The Museum of Archaeology is located at the Old Fulling Mill in Durham City, below Durham Cathedral on 
the banks of the River Wear, and is the second oldest university museum in England. It houses over 20,000 
objects including material from many important sites, especially Roman, Medieval and Post Medieval and 
comprises the archaeological resource for the Durham World Heritage Site. The collections derive principally 
from Durham City and County Durham through excavation or donation but there is also material from the 
wider North East of England, from Central Europe, Ancient Greece and Rome. The Museum also contains 
the results of an archaeological survey of Durham City carried out between 1988 and 1991. Current 
collection policy is to take material from the City of Durham and environs only. Exhibition policy ensures that 
the most significant collections are on permanent display and that other important collections feature in the 
changing exhibitions programme so that 20% of the collections are on display at any one time. 

Oriental Museum

The Oriental Museum is the only museum dedicated to the art and archaeology of the continent of Asia and 
the Levant region. It houses and displays a collection of world renown, comprising over 23,500 objects and 
covering the entire range of human history and prehistory from the civilisations and cultures of Egypt, Islamic 
North Africa, the Near East, Far East and the Indian sub-continent. Many exhibits are of recognised national 
and international significance and the Chinese and Egyptian collections have recently (2008) been awarded 
“designated” status. Acquisition policy is to enhance the quality of the collections with significant material that 
will build on strengths and fill identified gaps. The most significant objects are placed on permanent display 
with a changing exhibitions programme for other important material such that about 30% of the collections 
are on display at any one time. 

Libraries

The Palace Green library includes the Bishop Cosin's Library, medieval manuscripts, the archives of Durham 
Cathedral (monastic to 1539) and Diocese, the Durham Bishopric Estate papers, the Sudan Archive and 
Abbas Hilmi II Papers, the Earl Grey Papers, the Malcolm MacDonald Papers, the Basil Bunting Poetry 
Archive, and exceptionally rich holdings of 17th-century English printing. The Bishop Cosin’s Library and 
Sudan Archive have been designated as of outstanding national and international importance. There is also 
a large Local Collection on the history of the North East of England, and antiquarians' collections and family 
papers also of local importance.  

There are also research collections at the main University library on Stockton Road including the Area 
Studies collection relating to East Asia and the Middle East, the Middle East Documentation Unit (MEDU)
and European Documentation Centre

The Library’s collecting policy for its Archives and Special Collections is designed to support the research 
and teaching of Durham University, and to develop coherent collections which build on existing strengths as 
a service to scholarship generally. In considering any acquisition, therefore, attention is paid to its scholarly 
significance, its appropriateness to the University's academic needs and priorities, and its relation to the 
Library's existing collections and to the existing pattern of national and regional collections.  
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13   Fixed asset investments Consolidated University

31 July 31 July 31 July 31 July
2010 2009 2010 2009
£'000  £000 £'000  £000

Long term investments 114 299 114 299
Investments in subsidiary companies -                    - 12,774 12,774
at cost

114 299 12,888 13,073

The Companies in which the University has a major interest are shown in note 35.

14   Investment in joint venture

The University has a 12.5% share in N8 Limited, a company limited by guarantee which is a joint venture 
company owned equally by eight research intensive Northern universities.  The company is accounted for
as a joint venture using the gross equity method such that 12.5% of the company's net income is reported 
in the University's consolidated income and expenditure account and 12.5% of its gross assets and liabilities 
are incorporated into the University's consolidated balance sheet.  

31 July 31 July
2010 2009
£'000  £000

Income and expenditure account

Income 7 45          

Surplus -            -            

Balance sheet

Current assets 422       622         

Current liabilities (422) (422)

Net current assets -            200         

Long term liabilities -            (200)

Share of net assets -            -            

Consolidated
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15   Endowment assets Consolidated and University

31 July 31 July
2010 2009
£'000  £000

At 1 August 2009 52,693 57,135

New endowments 2,174 2,807
Increase / (Decrease) in market value of investments 2,631 (2,845)
Increase / (Decrease) in market value of land and property 1,449 (3,898)
Other movements in cash balances held for endowment funds (1,099) (506)

At 31 July 2010 57,848 52,693

31 July 31 July
2010 2009
£'000  £000

Represented by

Pooled investment funds 22,571 19,940

Land and property 16,581 15,132

Loan to University funds 10,493 9,635

Short term deposits 8,203 7,986

Total endowment asset investments 57,848 52,693

Property valuations were made as at 31st July 2007 by Knight Frank, chartered surveyors but were reduced 
by 20% in 2009 to reflect prevailing market conditions. It is considered that the value of endowment property 
has increased by approximately 10% during the year and this has been reflected in the 2010 value above.  

16 Stock Consolidated University

31 July 31 July 31 July 31 July
2010 2009 2010 2009
 £000  £000  £000  £000

Goods for resale 279 228 279 228
Other -              3 -           3

Durham University Developments Ltd - 20 20 -           -
development land for resale (see Note 23(b))

299 251 279 231
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17 Debtors Consolidated University

31 July 31 July 31 July 31 July
2010 2009 2010 2009
£'000  £000 £'000  £000

Amounts falling due within one year:
Debtors 18,261 18,516 17,629 18,081
Amounts due from subsidiary undertakings -              -       1,481 4,939
Prepayments and accrued income 2,399 2,375 2,396 2,370

20,660 20,891 21,506 25,390

Amounts falling due after more than one year:
Debtors 1,267 2,665 1,267 2,665

21,927 23,556 22,773 28,055

18 Current asset investments Consolidated University

31 July 31 July 31 July 31 July
2010 2009 2010 2009
£'000  £000 £'000  £000

General funds invested in securites 2,077 1,971 2,077 1,971
Short term deposits 34,462 31,679 34,462 31,679

36,539 33,650 36,539 33,650

Amounts held as short term deposits range from 6 to 79 days' maturity.  

19 Cash at bank and in hand Consolidated University

31 July 31 July 31 July 31 July
2010 2009 2010 2009
£'000  £000 £'000  £000

Opening balance 14,912 5,488 13,719 4,776
Movement in the year 11,294 9,424 11,337 8,943

Cash balances 26,206 14,912 25,056 13,719
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20 Creditors:  Amounts falling due Consolidated University
     within one year

31 July 31 July 31 July 31 July
2010 2009 2010 2009
£'000  £000 £'000  £000

Bank loans and overdrafts 2,543 2,043 2,543 2,043
Endowment fund loans 142 142 142 142
Trade creditors 15,473 13,769 15,470 13,756
Capital grants not yet expended 12,840 8,781 12,840 8,781
Research grants received on account 16,326 13,983 16,326 13,983
Social security and other taxation payable 3,068 3,178 3,068 3,178
Amounts owing to subsidiary undertakings -              -    5,583 6,311
Accruals and deferred Income 12,986 12,897 12,757 12,393

63,378 54,793 68,729 60,587

21 Creditors:  Amounts falling due Consolidated University
      a fte r more  than one  year

31 July 31 July 31 July 31 July
2010 2009 2010 2009
£'000  £000 £'000  £000

Bank loans 68,536 71,078 68,536 71,078
Endowment fund loan 10,350 9,493 10,350 9,493

78,886 80,571 78,886 80,571
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22  Borrowings Consolidated University

31 July 31 July 31 July 31 July
2010 2009 2010 2009
£'000  £000 £'000  £000

Bank loans repayable: 
In one year or less 2,543 2,043 2,543 2,043
Between one and two years 2,543 2,835 2,543 2,835
Between two and five years 8,120 8,751 8,120 8,751
In five years or more 57,873 59,492 57,873 59,492

71,079 73,121 71,079 73,121

Secured Loans

On 26 July 2004 the University agreed a loan facility for £92 million incorporating all its existing borrowings 
and providing new borrowing of up to £35.5 million. The loan is unsecured and the terms are as follows: 

An existing loan of £41 million repayable in equal quarterly instalments over a 30 year period providing 
finance for capital expenditure. £11 million bears interest based on the LIBOR rate, £11 million has been 
fixed by a 15-year swap, and £7 million has been fixed at 5.66% by a 25-year swap.  

An additional loan facility of up to £12 million repayable in equal instalments over a 30 year period providing 
additional finance for capital expenditure. At 31 July 2010 £5 million had been drawn down. £5 million bears 
interest based on the LIBOR rate and £7 million has been fixed at 5.66% by a 25-year swap. 

A new loan facility of up to £35.5 million, plus £1.5m interest added to the principal sum, repayable over a 30 
year period commencing on 31 October 2006. The loan is profiled so that the repayments increase during 
the course of the loan. The facility provided funding for a project to construct additional residential 
accommodation. At 31 July 2010 £34.5 million had been drawn down and £1.5 million interest had been 
added to the principal sum. The full value of £37 million has been fixed at 5.36% by a 30-year swap, the 
value of the swap being aligned with the projected drawdown profile of the loan. 

On 24 June 2010 an additional loan facility to support the University’s capital programme was agreed as 
follows: up to £70 million is available as a revolving credit facility until 23 June 2013, following which £45 
million will be established as a term loan over 27 years, to be repaid wholly at the end of the term. The 
remaining £25 million will be available as a revolving credit facility until 23 June 2020 when, if drawn, it will 
be established as a term loan on the same basis as above. No sums had been drawn under this facility at 31 
July 2010. The University is committed to hedging at least 60% of its outstanding loan balances.
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23 Provisions for liabilities and charges
Consolidated

31 July Increase / 31 July
2009 (Decrease) Utilised 2010
 £000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Restructuring 13 4,014 (14) 4,013
Infrastructure funding 716 26 -            742
Deferred tax 148 (148) -            -
Capital goods scheme 527 5 (74) 458
Other  25 (16) (9) -

1,429 3,881 (97) 5,213

University
 31 July Increase / 31 July

2009 (Decrease) Utilised 2010
 £000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Restructuring 13 4,014 (14) 4,013
Capital goods scheme 527 5 (74) 458
Other 25 (16) (9) -

565 4,003 (97) 4,471

a. Restructuring 
 The University continually reviews its activities to adapt to economic conditions and to increase its 

effectiveness. Where activities are re-organised or discontinued, staff may be offered voluntary severance 
or be subject to redundancy. A voluntary severance scheme was implemented in early 2010 and the 
provision represents the costs of agreed severance arrangements outstanding at 31 July 2010. 

b. Infrastructure funding 
 Durham University Developments Ltd entered into an agreement with a developer to carry out 

infrastructure works costing a maximum of £1 million, of which £600,000 is an interest free loan (index-
linked to the RPI). If at the end of 10 years the development of the site is incomplete, the proportion of the 
loan relating to undeveloped plots is repayable by the Company.

c. Deferred tax 
 The provision for deferred tax related to an asset held by a subsidiary company in which tax had been 

deferred by capital allowances.  The asset has now been sold to the University and the liability no longer 
exists.   

d. Capital goods scheme 
 The provision relates to amounts payable to HM Revenue and Customs over the next ten years for items 

falling within the capital goods scheme.  The provision arises because partial exemption recovery rates are 
expected to decrease in future years.   

e. Other 
 The University provided for a number of claims from staff and former staff members who were unable to 

join the non-academic pension scheme by virtue of being part-time. Final settlement of these liabilities has 
enabled the provision to be fully released. 
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24 Deferred capital grants  

Land and Assets under Heritage
Buildings Equipment Construction Assets Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Funding Council

At 1 August 2009 42,249 12,608 3,302 - 58,159
Grants received -             -            12,579 - 12,579
Grants transferred to creditors -             -            (4,632) - (4,632)
Grants capitalised 1,698 2,837 (4,535) - -
Disposal (1,060) -            - - (1,060)
Released to income and expenditure (1,219) (2,850) - - (4,069)

At 31 July 2010 41,668 12,595 6,714 - 60,977

Research grants

At 1 August 2009 5,379 3,754 -               - 9,133
Grants received -             -            775 - 775
Grants capitalised -             775 (775) - -
Released to income and expenditure (126) (1,712) -               - (1,838)

At 31 July 2010 5,253 2,817 -               - 8,070

Other grants and benefactions

At 1 August 2009 23,380 957 1,039 11 25,387

Grants received -             -            599 - 599
Grants transferred from creditors -             -            573 - 573
Grants capitalised 561        198       (759) - -
Released to income and expenditure (611) (240) -               - (851)

At 31 July 2010 23,330 915 1,452 11 25,708

Totals

At 31 July 2010 70,251 16,327 8,166 11 94,755

At 1 August 2009 71,008 17,319 4,341 11 92,679

Consolidated

The note above also describes deferred capital grants in the University’s books. However in addition to the 
values disclosed the opening and closing balances under “Other grants and benefactions” in the University 
also include amounts of £7,848,000 and £7,550,000 respectively in respect of a research building owned 
by a charitable subsidiary company, Library Services (Durham) Limited, of which the University has free 
use.
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 25 Endowments 

Unrestricted Restricted Total Restricted 2010 2009
Permanent Permanent Permanent Expendable Total Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000  £000

At 1 August 2009
Capital 25,758 15,306 41,064 10,021 51,085 55,619
Accumulated income -             1,525 1,525 83 1,608 1,516

25,758 16,831 42,589 10,104 52,693 57,135

New endowments -             -          -           2,174 2,174 2,807
Transfer to deferred -             -          -           -           -          (185)
  capital grant

Investment income 240 494 734 8 742 939
Expenditure (240) (415) (655) (1,186) (1,841) (1,260)

-             79 79 (1,178) (1,099) (321)

Movement in market value 1,943 1,898 3,841 239 4,080 (6,743)

At 31 July 2010 27,701 18,808 46,509 11,339 57,848 52,693

Represented by
Capital 27,701 17,427 45,128 11,268 56,396 51,085
Accumulated income -             1,381 1,381   71 1,452 1,608

27,701 18,808 46,509 11,339 57,848 52,693

The excess of expenditure over income on Restricted Expendable funds arises because the funds are to be
spent in their entirety, not just the income arising, in a timely fashion in accordance with the donors' wishes.

Consolidated and University
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26 General reserves

2010 2009
£'000 £000

At 1 August 70,687 68,304

Surplus after depreciation of fixed assets and taxation 8,216 12,720
Actuarial loss in respect of pension plan (295) (10,337)

At 31 July 78,608 70,687

2010 2009
£'000 £000

At 1 August 71,541 69,531

Surplus after depreciation of assets and taxation 8,001 12,347
Actuarial loss in respect of pension plan (295) (10,337)

At 31 July 79,247 71,541

Consolidated University

2010 2010
£'000 £'000

Represented by:
General reserve excluding pension reserve 89,342 89,981
Pension reserve (10,734) (10,734)

78,608 79,247

Consolidated

University
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27 Reconciliation of consolidated operating surplus to 2009/10  2008/09
     net cash inflow from operating activities £'000  £000

        Surplus before tax 6,969 12,398
        Depreciation 12,162 11,451
        Deferred capital grants released to income (6,758) (6,308)
        Deferred capital grants released on disposal (1,060) (11)
        Investment income (1,335) (2,136)
        (Profit) / Loss on sale of general investments (106) 252
        Loss on disposal of fixed assets 1,035 -            
        Interest payable 3,843 4,345
        Transfer to deferred capital grant -              (185)
        Pension cost less contributions payable 118 (540)
        Increase in stocks (48) (15)
        Decrease / (Increase) in debtors 1,477 (3,721)
        Increase in creditors 11,040 10,308
        Deferred capital grants transferred to creditors (4,059) (8,781)
        Increase / (Decrease) in provisions 3,932 (304)

Net cash inflow from operating activities 27,210 16,753

28  Analysis of changes in consolidated  University University Total
     financing during the year Loans Investments

£'000 £'000 £'000

       Balance at 1 August 2008 (83,241) 299 (82,942)

       New (loans) / investments (1,700) - (1,700)
       Capital repayments / other movements 2,185 - 2,185

       Balance at 31 July 2009 (82,756) 299 (82,457)

       New (loans) / investments (1,000) -             (1,000)
       Capital repayments / other movements 2,185 (185) 2,000

       Balance at 31 July 2010 (81,571) 114 (81,457)
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29  Analysis of changes in net funds

At At
31 July Cash Other 31 July

2009 Flows Changes 2010
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

   Cash at bank and in hand:
      Endowment assets 7,986 217 -             8,203
      Cash balances 14,912 11,294 -             26,206

22,898 11,511 -             34,409

   Debt due within one year (2,185) 2,185 (2,685) (2,685)

   Debt due after one year (80,571) (1,000) 2,685 (78,886)

   Current asset investments 33,650 2,889 -             36,539

(26,208) 15,585 -             (10,623)



DURHAM UNIVERSITY     Financial Statements    31 July 2010 

57

Notes to the Financial Statements – continued

30  Pension costs 

(a) Universities Superannuation Scheme 

The University participates in the Universities Superannuation Scheme (USS), a defined benefit scheme 
which is contracted out of the State Second Pension (S2P). The assets of the scheme are held in a separate 
fund administered by the trustee, Universities Superannuation Scheme Limited. The appointment of directors 
to the board of the trustee is determined by the company’s Articles of Association. Under the scheme trust 
deed and rules, the employer contribution rate is determined by the trustee, acting on actuarial advice. 

Because of the mutual nature of the scheme, the University is unable to identify its share of the underlying 
assets and liabilities of the scheme on a consistent and reasonable basis and therefore, as required by 
FRS17 “Retirement Benefits”, accounts for the scheme as if it were a defined contribution scheme. As a 
result, the cost charged to the income and expenditure account represents the contributions payable to the 
scheme in respect of the accounting period. 

The last triennial actuarial valuation of the scheme was at 31 March 2008. The valuation was carried out 
using the projected unit method. The assumptions which have the most significant effect on the result of the 
valuation are those relating to the rate of return on investments (i.e. the valuation rate of interest), the rates of 
increase in salary and pensions and the assumed rates of mortality. In relation to the past service liabilities 
the financial assumptions were derived from market yields prevailing at the valuation date. It was assumed 
that the valuation rate of interest would be 6.4% per annum, salary increases would be 4.3% per annum (plus 
an additional allowance for increases in salaries due to age and promotion) and pensions would increase by 
3.3% per annum.  

In relation to the future service liabilities, it was assumed that the valuation rate of interest would be 6.4% per 
annum, including an additional investment return assumption of 2.0% per annum, salary increases would be 
4.3% per annum (also plus an allowance for increases in salaries due to age and promotion) and pensions 
would increase by 3.3% per annum.  

Standard mortality tables were used as follows: 

Males PA92 YoB tables - rated down 1 year 

Females PA92 MC YoB tables – no age rating 

Use of these mortality tables reasonably reflects the actual USS experience but also provides an element of 
conservatism to allow for further small improvements in mortality rates. The assumed life expectations on 
retirement at age 65 are: 

Males 22.8 years 
Females 24.0 years 

At the valuation date, the value of the assets of the scheme was £28,842 million and the value of the past 
service liabilities was £28,135 million indicating a surplus of £707 million. The assets therefore were sufficient 
to cover 103% of the benefits which had accrued to members after allowing for expected future increases in 
earnings. 

The actuary also valued the scheme on a number of other bases as at the valuation date. On the scheme’s 
historical gilts basis, using a valuation rate of interest in respect of past service liabilities of 4.4% per annum 
the funding level was approximately 71%.  Under the Pension Protection Fund regulations introduced by the 
Pensions Act 2004 it was 107% funded; on a buy-out basis (i.e. assuming the Scheme had discontinued on 
the valuation date) the assets would have been approximately 79% of the amount necessary to secure all the 
benefits with an insurance company; and using the FRS17 formula as if USS were a single employer scheme, 
the actuary estimated that the funding level would have been approximately 104%. 
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30  Pension costs - continued 

(a) Universities Superannuation Scheme - continued 

Since 31 March 2008 global investment markets have continued to fluctuate and at 31 March 2010 the 
actuary has estimated that the funding level under the new scheme specific funding regime had fallen from 
103% to 91%.  Compared to the previous 12 months, the funding level has improved from 74% (as at 31st

March 2009) to 91%.  This estimate is based on the funding level at 31 March 2008, adjusted to reflect the 
fund’s actual investment performance over the two years and changes in market conditions (market 
conditions affect both the valuation rate of interest and also the inflation assumption which in turn impacts on 
the salary and pension increase assumptions.) 

On the FRS17 basis, using an AA bond discount rate of 5.6% based on spot yields, the actuary estimated that 
the funding level at 31 March 2010 was 80%. An estimate of the funding level on a buy-out basis was 
approximately 57%.  

Surpluses or deficits which arise at future valuations may impact on the University's future contribution 
commitment. The sensitivities regarding the principal assumptions used to measure the scheme liabilities on 
a technical provisions basis as at the date of the last triennial valuation are set out below: 

Assumption Change in assumption Impact on liabilities 

Valuation rate of interest 0.5% £2.2 billion 

Rate of pension increases 0.5% £1.5 billion 

Rate of salary growth 0.5% £0.7 billion 

Rate of mortality More prudent (move to long cohort future 
improvements from the medium cohort 

adopted at the valuation) 

Increase by £1.6 billion 

USS is a “last man standing” scheme so that in the event of the insolvency of any of the participating 
employers in USS, the amount of any pension funding shortfall (which cannot otherwise be recovered) in 
respect of that employer will be spread across the remaining participant employers and reflected in the next 
actuarial valuation of the scheme. 

The trustee believes that, over the long term, equity investment and investment in selected alternative asset 
classes will provide superior returns to other investment classes. The management structure and targets set 
are designed to give the fund a major exposure to equities through portfolios that are diversified both 
geographically and by sector. The trustee recognises that it would be theoretically possible to select 
investments producing income flows broadly similar to the estimated liability cash flows. However, in order to 
meet the long-term funding objective within a level of contributions that it considers the employers would be 
willing to make, the trustee needs to take on a degree of investment risk relative to the liabilities. This taking 
of investment risk seeks to target a greater return than the matching assets would provide whilst maintaining 
a prudent approach to meeting the fund’s liabilities. Before deciding what degree of investment risk to take 
relative to the liabilities, the trustee receives advice from its internal investment team, its investment 
consultant and the scheme actuary, and considers the views of the employers. The strong positive cash flow 
of the scheme means that it is not necessary to realise investments to meet liabilities. The trustee believes 
that this, together with the ongoing flow of new entrants into the scheme and the strength of covenant of the 
employers, enables it to take a long-term view of its investments. Short-term volatility of returns can be 
tolerated and need not feed through directly to the contribution rate although the trustee is mindful of the 
desirability of keeping the funding level on the scheme’s technical provisions close to or above 100% thereby 
minimizing the risk of the introduction of deficit contributions.  The actuary has confirmed that the scheme’s 
cash flow is likely to remain positive for the next ten years or more. 
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30  Pension costs - continued

(a)  Universities Superannuation Scheme - continued 

The next formal triennial actuarial valuation is due at 31 March 2011. The contribution rate will be reviewed as 
part of each valuation. 

The total pension cost for the University was £12,464,000 (2009: £10,572,000). This includes £1,062,000 
(2009: £908,000) of outstanding contributions at the balance sheet date. The contribution rate payable by the 
University was 16% of pensionable salaries. 

(b)  University of Durham Retirement Benefits Plan (1969)  

The University sponsors the University of Durham Retirement Benefits Plan (1969) (the Plan) which provides 
benefits based on final pensionable salary for University employees not eligible for membership of 
Universities Superannuation Scheme. The assets of the Plan are held in a separate trustee-administered 
fund. The last full actuarial valuation of this Plan was carried out by a qualified independent actuary as at 6 
April 2009 and updated on an approximate basis to 31 July 2010.  

The contributions made by the employer to the Plan over the financial year have been £1,821,000. These 
contributions are equivalent to 11.9% (12.0% from January 2010) of pensionable pay.  This rate includes an 
allowance for expenses and death in service insurance premiums payable.  

The Government announced on 8 July 2010 that it will in future use the Consumer Prices Index in place of the 
Retail Prices Index as the index for determining pension increases for private sector occupational pension 
schemes as well as for public sector schemes. The University has considered the Plan rules and concluded 
that it would not be appropriate to reflect this change in these financial statements. In due course, the Plan’s 
trustees will be considering the implications of the Government announcement for the Plan and any change to 
Plan rules will be reflected in future financial statements. 

The following information is based upon a full actuarial valuation of the Plan at 6 April 2009 updated to 31 July 
2010.  

Present values of plan liabilities, fair value of assets and deficit 
31 July 31 July
2010 2009
£'000 £000

Present value of plan liabilities (68,561) (61,297)

Fair value of plan assets 57,827 50,976

Net liability (10,734) (10,321)
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30  Pension costs - continued 

(b) University of Durham Retirement Benefits Plan (1969) - continued 

Reconciliation of opening and closing balances of the present value of plan liabilities 

31 July 31 July
2010 2009
£'000 £000

Present value of plan liabilities at 1 August 61,297 54,389

Current service cost 1,511 1,304
Interest cost 3,832 3,569
Contributions by members 693 707
Actuarial losses 3,909 4,123
Benefits paid and death in service insurance premiums (2,930) (3,035)
Past service costs 249 240

Present value of plan liabilities at 31 July 68,561 61,297

Reconciliation of opening and closing balances of the fair value of plan assets 

31 July 31 July
2010 2009
£'000 £000

Fair value of plan assets at 1 August 50,976 53,865

Expected return on plan assets 3,359 3,651
Actuarial gain / (loss) 3,614 (6,214)
Contributions by employer 2,115 2,002
Contributions by members 693 707
Benefits paid and death in service insurance premiums (2,930) (3,035)

Fair value of plan assets at 31 July 57,827 50,976

Actual return on plan assets 

The actual return on plan assets, net of expenses, over the year ended 31 July 2010 was £6,973,000.  
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30  Pension costs - continued 

(b) University of Durham Retirement Benefits Plan (1969) - continued 

Analysis of the charge to the income and expenditure account 
2009/10 2008/09

£'000 £000

       Analysis of operating charge
       Current service cost (1,511) (1,304)
       Past service cost (249) (240)
       Operating charge (1,760) (1,544)

       Analysis of (finance cost) / pension interest
       Expected return on plan assets 3,359 3,651
       Interest on plan liabilities (3,832) (3,569)
       (Finance cost)  / Pension interest (473) 82

      Total cost (2,233) (1,462)

Amount recognised in Statement of Total Recognised Gains and Losses 
2009/10 2008/09

£'000 £000

      Actual return less expected return on plan assets 3,614 (6,214)
      Experience gains arising on plan liabilities 4,276 20
      Change in financial and demographic assumptions underlying the (8,185) (4,143)
      plan liabilities

(295) (10,337)

The cumulative amount of actuarial gains and losses recognised in the statement of total recognised gains 
and losses since the year ended 31 July 2002 is losses of £2,348,000. 

Plan assets and expected rates of return 
       The assets of the plan were invested as follows: 31 July 31 July

2010 2009
£'000 £000

       Equities 38,000 28,208
       Bonds 14,122 13,128
       Cash 423 5,192
       Property 5,282 4,448

57,827 50,976

       The expected long-term rates of return are as follows: 2009/10 2008/09
% %

       Equities 7.25 7.90
       Bonds 5.40 5.70
       Property 7.25 7.40
       Cash 0.50 5.00
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Notes to the Financial Statements – continued

30  Pension costs - continued 

(b) University of Durham Retirement Benefits Plan (1969) - continued 

The expected long term return on corporate bonds is equal to the discount rate used to value the liabilities. 
This is based on the IBoxx AA rated (over 15 year) Corporate Bond index. The expected rate of return on 
equities and property has been determined as the inflation assumption used to value the liabilities, plus the 
dividend yield on the FTSE All Share Index, plus an allowance for real dividend growth. 

Assumptions 

The plan’s liabilities have been calculated using the following principal actuarial assumptions: 

2010 2009
% per annum % per annum

       Inflation 3.15 3.60
       Salary increases 4.15 4.60
       Rate of discount for plan liabilities 5.40 6.30
       Increases to pensions in payment - minimum 3% 3.50 3.70
       Increases to pensions in payment - maximum 2.5% 2.30 2.50
       Revaluation rate for deferred pensioners 3.15 3.60

The mortality assumptions adopted at 31 July 2010 imply the following life expectancies: 

Male retiring at age 65 in 2010 18.7 years 
Female retiring at age 65 in 2010 20.3 years 
Male retiring at age 65 in 2035 20.6 years 
Female retiring at age 65 in 2035 21.7 years 

Amounts for the current and previous four years 
2009/10 2008/09 2007/08 2006/07 2005/06

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Fair value of assets 57,827 50,976 53,865 57,378 51,601
Present value of plan liabilities 68,561 61,297 54,389 55,417 56,951

(Deficit) / surplus in plan (10,734) (10,321) (524) 1,961 (5,350)

Experience adjustment on plan liabilities 4,276 20 81 (189) 730

Experience adjustment on plan assets 3,614 (6,214) (7,003) 2,675 2,849

Effects of changes in the demographic and financial
assumptions underlying the present value of the (8,185) (4,143) 3,681 4,862 274
plan liabilities
In accordance with FRS17 paragraph 95C the university has chosen not to restate the corresponding 
amounts for the first three of the previous four accounting periods for the effect of using the bid price of 
assets rather than the mid-market price. 

Estimate of contributions to be paid to plan 

The best estimate of contributions to be paid by the employer to the plan for the year beginning 1 August 
2010 is £1,925,000. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements – continued

30  Pension costs - continued 

(c) NHS Pension Scheme

The University employs a small number of staff who, due to their background, participate in the NHS 
Pension Scheme. The University is not able to identify its share of the assets and liabilities of the 
scheme and therefore accounts only for contributions paid which amounted to £68,000 (2009: £44,000). 

31 Capital commitments

31 July 31 July 31 July 31 July
2010 2009 2010 2009
£'000  £000 £'000  £000

Commitments approved 79,415 43,319 79,415 43,319

UniversityConsolidated 

32 Financial commitments  

At 31 July 2010 the University and the Group had annual commitments under non-cancellable 
operating leases and other financial commitments, as follows:

Land and Othe r Land and Othe r
 Buildings Buildings

31 July 31 July 31 July 31 July
2010 2010 2009 2009
£'000 £'000 £000 £000

a) Leases expiring:

   Within one year -           18        -        154      
   Between two and five years -           8           -        37        
   Over five years 227      -           227     -          

b) Other financial commitments:

   Within one year -           253      -        -          
   Between two and five years 180 -           180     3,041
   Over five years -           -           -        -          
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Notes to the Financial Statements – continued 

33  Related Party Transactions 

Due to the nature of the University's operations and the composition of Council (being drawn from local 
public and private organisations) it is inevitable that transactions will take place with organisations in which a 
member of Council may have an interest. All transactions involving organisations in which a member of 
Council may have an interest are conducted at arm’s length and in accordance with the University's financial 
regulations and normal procurement procedures. The following transactions were identified for disclosure 
under Financial Reporting Standard 8: Related Party Disclosures: 

Sales Purchases
£'000 £'000

County Durham Foundation 3
Durham Chorister School 3
Durham County Council 213 1,059
English Federation of Disability Sport 3
English Heritage 29
Kromek 12
Linstock Communications Ltd 51
Northumbrian Water Limited 72 924
One North East 110 180
Skills for Care 2
Student Community Action 3

The University makes payments on behalf of and is re-imbursed by Durham Students Union (“DSU”). 
The University does not exercise day to day control over the affairs of DSU.   

A fee payment of £10,000 was made to Professor Croisdale-Appleby for services rendered to Durham 
Business School.   
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Notes to the Financial Statements – continued 

34  External funds

(a) Access funds 2009/10 2008/09
£'000  £000

Funding Council grants 269 252
Interest earned -                2

269 254

Disbursed to students (269) (254)

Balance at 31 July -          -          

(b) TDA bursaries 2009/10 2008/09
£'000  £000

Funding Council grants 1,998 2,096

Administration fee (39) (37)
Payments to trainees (1,906) (1,976)

Due for recovery by TDA (included in Creditors note 20) 53 83

Access grants and TDA bursaries are provided by the Funding Council and are available
solely for students, the University acts only as paying agent. These grants and bursaries and the 
related payments are therefore excluded from the University's Income and Expenditure Account. 

Included in Creditors falling due within one year (note 20) is £62,000 relating to hardship loans 
granted to students which have been repaid. This sum is therefore available for issue as further 
loans to students.  
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35  Investments in subsidiary companies

The Companies in which the University has a major interest, and whose results are consolidated in these 
statements, are as follows:

Percentage of Shares
Name Principal Activities and Class
Durham University Investments Ltd Intermediate Holding Company 100% Ordinary Shares
Durham University Developments Ltd * Property Trading 100% Ordinary Shares
Durham University Conference and Provision of Conference and 100% Ordinary Shares
  Tourism Ltd   *   Tourist Facilities  
Library Services ( Durham) Ltd Provision of Library Services 100% Ordinary Shares
Two subsidiary companies, Mountjoy Research Company Ltd and Durham Utilities Company Ltd, were 
  voluntarily liquidated during the year. 

*  These shares are held indirectly

The University also held investments in the following companies which have been set up to carry out spin-off 
businesses. The results of these companies are not included in the consolidated statements:

Durham Incubation (No. 3) Ltd (Winding up commenced) 100.0% Ordinary Shares
Durham Translators Ltd *** 38.3% Ordinary Shares
Durham Photonics *** 26.2% Ordinary Shares
FSCAN Ltd *** 24.9% Ordinary Shares
Geospatial Research Limited *** 24.0% Ordinary Shares
Creative Gene Technology *** 22.9% Ordinary Shares
Durham Smart Imaging *** 20.0% Ordinary Shares
Developmental Solutions *** 20.0% Ordinary Shares
Concept Analyst Limited *** 20.0% Ordinary Shares
Gamble De Grussa Ltd 19.7% Ordinary Shares
Durham Animated Mathematics Ltd 16.7% Ordinary Shares
Virtual Centre.Com Limited 15.0% Ordinary Shares
Durham Magneto Optics Limited 15.0% Ordinary Shares
Re-innervate Limited 12.1% Ordinary Shares
ClarinisBio Ltd (formerly Stem Cell Developmented Limited) 10.0% Ordinary Shares
Ingenia Technology Limited 10.0% Ordinary Shares
Surface Innovations Limited 10.0% Ordinary Shares
Durham Scientific Crystals Limited (trading as Kromek) 8.3% Ordinary Shares
Bayesline 5.0% Ordinary Shares
Lyrachem Limited 4.9% Ordinary Shares
Porton Plasma Innovations (P2i) Ltd 2.2% Ordinary Shares
Fairfield Group Limited 2.1% Ordinary Shares
Synergis Technologies Limited 1.0% Ordinary Shares
*** Not consolidated because at 31 July 2010 the University did not exercise effective control over 

  these companies.

The University also holds investments in companies established jointly by several Universities to provide
the following services: 
Adsfab Limited Advertising, communications 3% Ordinary Class C shares

and recruitment (non-voting)
N8 Limited Research 12.5% share (company 

limited by guarantee)




